Choosing the Best of Both Worlds

The Double Life of the Great Crested Newt

Daniel Gustafson

Faculty of Forest Sciences Skinnskatteberg

Doctoral Thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Skinnskatteberg 2011 Acta Universitatis Agriculturae Sueciae 2011:87

Cover: Illustration by Johnny Jansson

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN 978-91-576-7631-3 © 2011 Daniel Gustafson, Skinnskatteberg Print: SLU Service/Repro, Uppsala 2011

Choosing the best of both worlds - the double life of the great crested newt

Abstract

The great crested newt (Triturus cristatus) is dependent on two environments for its survival: the aquatic habitat necessary for breeding and development, and the terrestrial habitat required for post-breeding and juvenile activities. For a population to be able to survive in a landscape, both habitat types must be present within migration distance from each other. The overall aim of this thesis is to find and describe prerequisites of environments and landscapes that make them sufficient as habitats for the great crested newt. The purpose is also to present the results in a conservation perspective and to discuss them in relation to practical examples. In five separate studies, performed in Örebro County, south-central Sweden, the aquatic and terrestrial habitats of the species were examined. The first study examined aquatic plants in a variety of ponds and landscapes, to determine if the diversity of plant species was higher in ponds where great crested newts were present. I found that ponds with newts had a significantly higher mean number of plant species than ponds without the species. The second study focused on the question if there are chemical and physical characteristics that determine occurrence of great crested newts. The results showed that temperature and nutrient levels (nitrogen and phosphorus) were important in distinguishing between ponds with and without newts, whereas other physical variables were less important. My results also suggest that the great crested newt selects ponds with low nutrient levels for breeding, while the species may also be present in ponds with higher nutrient levels. The third study used radio-telemetry in an attempt to determine how the great crested newt moved in its terrestrial habitat and which micro-habitats it used while the focal point of study four was the landscape and if landscape composition may predict use of ponds as aquatic habitats. Combined, studies three and four suggest that management of the species should to a greater extent include terrestrial habitat, with special attention given to older, deciduous-rich forest within approximately 200 m of breeding ponds. The aim of the last study was to describe and evaluate a project concerning translocation of a great crested newt population. I point out the necessity of long-term monitoring to distinguish any possible success with respect to site sustainability and population size.

Keywords: Amphibia, Caudata, *Triturus cristatus*, aquatic and terrestrial habitat use, landscape, pondscape, indicator species, radio-telemetry, translocation

Author's address: Daniel Gustafson, School for Forest Management, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences (SLU), Box 43, SE-739 21 Skinnskatteberg, Sweden. *E-mail:* Daniel.Gustafson@lansstyrelsen.se

Dedication

Till min far Claes-Håkan Gustafson

Contents

List of Publications		6
1	Introduction	8
2	Life and habits of the great crested newt	11
2.1	Systematics and morphology	11
2.2	Geographic distribution	12
2.3	Ecology	14
3	Threats and conservation	17
4	Two distinct habitats	20
4.1	The aquatic habitat	21
4.2	The terrestrial habitat and the pondscape	22
5	Evaluating the habitats of the great crested newt	25
5.1	Study area	25
5.2	Paper I: Newts and pond plant diversity	27
5.3	Paper II: Pond quality and great crested newts	30
5.4	Paper III: Movements of great crested newts	32
5.5	Paper IV: Landscape composition and newt occurrence	35
5.6	Paper V: Translocation of a great crested newt population	37
6	Implications for management and conservation	41
7	The need for further research	47
References		49
Acknowledgements		61

List of Publications

This thesis is based on the work contained in the following papers, referred to by Roman numerals in the text:

- I Gustafson, D.H., Journath Pettersson, C. & Malmgren, J.C. (2006). Great crested newts (Triturus cristatus) as indicators of aquatic plant diversity. *Herpetological Journal* 16(4), 347-352.
- II Gustafson, D.H., Andersen, A.S.L., Mikusiński, G. & Malmgren, J.C. (2009). Pond quality determinants of occurrence patterns of great crested newts (Triturus cristatus). *Journal of Herpetology* 43(2), 300-310.
- III Gustafson, D.H., Malmgren, J.C & Mikusiński, G. Terrestrial movement and habitat use of great crested newts (Triturus cristatus) (manuscript).
- IV Gustafson, D.H., Malmgren, J.C. & Mikusiński, G. (2011). Terrestrial habitat predicts use of aquatic habitat for breeding purposes – a study on the great crested newt (Triturus cristatus). *Annales Zoologici Fennici* 48, in press.
- V Gustafson, D.H. & Mikusiński, G. When development and amphibians meet – a case study on great crested newts (Triturus cristatus) from southcentral Sweden (manuscript).

Papers I, II and IV are reproduced with the permission of the publishers.

The contribution of Daniel Gustafson to the papers included in this thesis was as follows:

I 50 %

- II 50 %
- III 60 %
- IV 75 %

V 85 %

1 Introduction

The great crested newt (*Triturus cristatus*) is an amphibian species that is declining throughout its distribution range (Kuzmin, 1994; Beebee, 1997; Beebee and Griffiths, 2000; Edgar and Bird, 2006). This is a trend that can be found among many amphibian species all over the world (Houlahan et al., 2000; Stuart et al., 2004; D'Amen and Bombi, 2009). The reasons for diminishing amphibian populations has been investigated and disputed widely and appear to vary among species in different parts of the world (Griffiths et al., 1996; Houlahan et al., 2000; Stuart et al., 2000; Stuart et al., 2000; Stuart et al., 2004; Beebee and Griffiths, 2005; D'Amen et al., 2010). Possible causes for these declines include habitat alteration, over-exploitation, introduction of alien species, changing climate, diseases and emissions of environmental hazards (Kiesecker et al., 2001; Teixeira and Arntzen, 2002; Collins and Storfer, 2003; Lips et al., 2005; Cushman, 2006; Hamer and McDonnell, 2008).

In Europe, the most evident causes for decreasing numbers and loss of populations are habitat destruction and landscape fragmentation, followed by pollution with climate change, invasive alien species and pathogens (Griffiths et al., 1996; Oldham and Swan, 1997; Wood et al., 2003; Cushman, 2006; Edgar and Bird, 2006; Temple and Cox, 2009). The great crested newt, as well as most pond-breeding amphibians, is dependent on two different habitats: the aquatic habitat necessary for breeding and development, and the terrestrial habitat required for post-breeding activities and during the juvenile phase. These two different habitats must be functionally connected with each other to make dispersal and seasonal migration possible. The interconnectivity and quality of aquatic and terrestrial habitats, as well as the surrounding matrix, are factors that are likely to be of great importance for the great crested newt, but have received little attention (Kupfer and Kneitz, 2000; Joly et al., 2001; Hartel et al., 2010b).

Typical aquatic and terrestrial newt habitats (i.e. small ponds and heterogenic, low intensity use cultural landscapes) are both among those habitat types that have generally decreased in modern landscapes (Bernes, 1994; Ihse, 1995; Hull, 1997; Benton et al., 2003; Löfvenhaft et al., 2004; Loman and Anderson, 2007; Curado et al., 2011). A number of surveys have indicated that several previously known newt localities have been destroyed in this process of landscape change (Beebee and Griffiths, 2000; Edgar and Bird, 2006; Malmgren, 2007). Destruction of habitats causes further isolation and fragmentation of landscapes and affect newts and other amphibians negatively both at the individual and population levels. The metapopulation structure and relatively short migration distance of great crested newts makes them particularly vulnerable to habitat alterations (Laan and Verboom, 1990; Joly et al., 2001; Ficetola and De Bernardi, 2004; Schabetsberger et al., 2004; Karlsson et al., 2007). To be able to prevent further destruction and deterioration of habitats, and in order to successfully restore and construct suitable habitats, it is crucial to learn which factors influence habitat selection, survival and reproduction of the great crested newt. In the characterization of the aquatic habitat, physical and chemical, as well as biological characteristics should be regarded (Gustafson et al., 2006; Gustafson et al., 2009). When studying the terrestrial habitat of the species, it is also important to consider different spatial scales and distances from an aquatic habitat (Gustafson et al., 2011).

The great crested newt is included in Annex II of the European Habitats Directive, which requires designation of protected areas for the species. A clear understanding of the habitat requirements of the species is therefore a necessary prerequisite in assessing its conservation status and in management and development planning. Moreover, the species might also be a suitable indicator or umbrella species for other pond-breeding amphibians and for pond-dwelling biodiversity, which presumably makes it useful as an important tool for monitoring of amphibian habitats and landscapes (Caro and O'Doherty, 1999; Roberge and Angelstam, 2004; Gustafson et al., 2006; Malmgren, 2007). Such 'indicator species' are assumed to mirror changes in population processes, species distributions and viability in other taxa, at both local and regional scales, thus providing a tool for measuring and monitoring effects on biodiversity (Pearson, 1995). The biphasic life-cycle of amphibians may make them particularly useful as indicators of biodiversity changes in pond landscapes, since they are vulnerable to habitat alterations and environmental stress (Houlahan et al., 2000). However, amphibian population dynamics are often influenced by processes acting at different scales and therefore studies should include the effects of multiple factors that potentially affect the general habitat quality.

The overall aim of this thesis is to find and describe prerequisites of environments and landscapes that make them sufficient as habitats for the great crested newt. The purpose is also to present the results in the perspective of conservation measures and to integrate them with practical examples. In five separate studies, performed in Örebro County, south-central Sweden, the aquatic and terrestrial habitats of the great crested newt were examined. The first two studies included in this thesis add to the knowledge concerning the aquatic habitat of the great crested newt. Paper I examines the value of the great crested newt as an indicator species for species-rich habitats, specifically in relation to aquatic plants. Paper II evaluates how different chemical and physical parameters interact to define habitat suitability to great crested newts. The next two papers describe the terrestrial habitat of the great crested newt from several different perspectives. First, Paper III investigates the terrestrial habitat from a local perspective, using radio-telemetry to track great crested newts when moving from their aquatic habitat towards their terrestrial habitat. Second, Paper IV examines structure and composition of landscapes surrounding ponds with and without great crested newts. Finally, Paper V takes a more practical conservation approach and describes and discusses a translocation case of a great crested newt population.

2 Life and habits of the great crested newt

2.1 Systematics and morphology

Newts and salamanders are tailed amphibians (Amphibia: Caudata) and belong to the family Salamandridae. Newts are often separated from other salamanders by having a well-defined aquatic phase as breeding adults (Griffiths, 1996; Malmgren, 2001). There are 14 species of newts in Europe, divided into four genera (Malmgren, 2001; Miller, 2004; Thiesmeier and Grossenbacher, 2004). Out of these, only two are found in Scandinavia: the smooth newt (*Lissotriton vulgaris*) and the great crested newt (*Triturus cristatus*) (Fig. 1).



Figure 1. Images of great crested newts *Triturus cristatus* (above) and smooth newts *Lissotriton vulgaris* (below); males to the left and females to the right (courtesy of Per Wedholm).

Adult great crested newts can be as large as 16 to 18 cm from snout to tailtip, compared with the smooth newt, which is usually smaller than 10 cm (Griffiths, 1996; Thiesmeier and Kupfer, 2000). Usually, the size of adult great crested newts is between 11 and 15 cm and females are generally larger than males (Griffiths, 1996; Malmgren and Thollesson, 1999). Apart from differences in size, colour and other skin characters make it easy to separate between the two species.

In the aquatic phase male great crested newts develop a serrated crest on the back and on the tail. Furthermore, a shimmering silver stripe is pronounced along the sides of the tail. These characters are used to attract females during courtship displays (Malmgren and Enghag, 2008). Females lack these features, but the height of their tail increases slightly. The eggs are laid separately and are wrapped in leaves of sub-aquatic plants. These features make newt eggs easy to distinguish from eggs of frogs and toads. The egg cell of the great crested newt is light in coloration and approximately 2 mm in diameter, covered by a thin gelatinous layer making the eggs totally 4-5 mm wide (Fog et al., 2001). Larvae of great crested newts have a long tail that ends with a black elongated tip. On the crest and tail there are black spots. Larvae of newts have external gills that are placed laterally in the neck region of the head. These are successively lost prior to metamorphosis. When the newts are ready to enter the terrestrial stage their body length is between 40 to 90 mm and have a miniaturized adult appearance.

2.2 Geographic distribution

Newts and salamanders have a global distribution, and are found on all continents except Australia and Antarctica (Griffiths, 1996). The great crested newt has a distribution range throughout northern and central Europe extending east to the Ural Mountains (Griffiths, 1996; Gasc et al., 1997; Arntzen, 2003). The distribution shows pronounced division and isolation of separate populations (Gasc et al., 1997; Thiesmeier and Kupfer, 2000). In Scandinavia, the species can be found throughout almost entire southern Sweden, and its occurrence is extending north to the counties of Jämtland and Ångermanland (Fig. 2). At least until the middle of the 20th century the northernmost occurrence for the great crested newt was confirmed as far north as at 65° latitude in Stensele in central Lappland (Dolmen, 1978). In Norway, the great crested newt is established in three separate areas: around the Oslo fiord in the south-east, in the Bergen area in the south-west, and in the Trondheim area in the central part (Dolmen, 1982). The species can also be found in the Baltic

archipelago of Åland and in Karelia in the eastern part of Finland (connected with the distribution range in Russia) (Terhivuo, 1993).

In Sweden, the great crested newt has quite an irregular distribution (Fig. 2). It is more or less evenly distributed in the southern part of the country, extending north to the *Limes Norrlandicus* (approximately 60° N latitude). North of this rather abrupt border the species is found mainly along the coast, and as relic populations further inland. As Sweden lies on the northern distribution limit of the great crested newt, the species is more common in the south and particularly along the coasts, and further north generally occurs in areas with warmer local climate (Dolmen, 1982; Malmgren, 2007). Moreover, the majority of the populations in Scandinavia are situated on lower elevation, up to a height of approximately 200 m above sea level, although a few Norwegian populations have been found at altitudes between 400-600 m above sea level (Dolmen, 1982).



Figure 2. Map showing the presently known distribution (including observations made in 2008) of the great crested newt in Fennoscandia (courtesy of Jan Malmgren, unpubl.).

In recent surveys in the northern Swedish counties of Jämtland, Dalarna and Gästrikland, and in the highlands of southern Sweden, several previously unknown localities with relic populations have been found (e.g. Johansson et al., 2005; Andersson et al., 2008). The irregular distribution and abrupt northern distribution limit of the great crested newt in Scandinavia might ultimately be linked to survey frequency, or rather infrequency. As the species has not been thoroughly surveyed throughout the country, it is still difficult to assess the true distribution pattern.

2.3 Ecology

Similar to many other amphibians, the great crested newt has both terrestrial and aquatic phases, tied to specific aquatic and terrestrial habitats. The aquatic habitat is used for courtship, breeding and larval development, and is only occasionally visited by juveniles. The rest of the life-cycle, including overwintering, is spent in the terrestrial habitat. Breeding takes place during spring and early summer; in Scandinavia from late April to the beginning of June (Malmgren, 2007). Newts awake from hibernation with the end of ground frost and when the temperature rises above approximately 0°C (Malmgren, 2002). Migration towards the aquatic habitat often starts during the first warm nights of spring, usually during rain. Before and while arriving to the aquatic habitat individuals adjust morphologically and physiologically to life in the water and when water temperature rises above approximately 10°C courtship begin (Thiesmeier and Kupfer, 2000; Malmgren, 2007).

The courtship of the great crested newt is rather intriguing. Courtship takes place mainly at night and seems to be most intense from dusk to midnight. Male newts gather in groups in preferred places (often open areas surrounded by vegetation) close to the shoreline, at a depth of 20 to 60 cm (Thiesmeier and Kupfer, 2000). Trying to establish a favourable place at a courtship arena, males swim or walk around to show off their courtship dress and make attacks on each other. When a female arrives one or a few males usually start to court her. The courtship involves mutual interactions in several different stages, but it ends with one male delivering a spermatophore to the female (Hedlund, 1990; Malmgren, 2001). The female picks up the spermatophore in her cloaca, from where the sperms wander to the oviduct where the eggs are fertilized. Females mate many times with different males during the courtship period, to avoid lack of sperm for the fertilization of her eggs (Hedlund, 1990; Malmgren, 2007). At the beginning of the courtship period females are very selective, and choose males that are large and have conspicuous crests

(Malmgren and Enghag, 2008), but at the end of the season they are less choosy (Malmgren, 2007).

Females lay their eggs separately on carefully selected places in the submerged vegetation in shallow water (Miaud, 1995). Eggs are placed on leaves and the female then wrap them in packages, which helps in protecting them from predators and solar radiation (Miaud, 1993; Miaud, 1994; Langhelle et al., 1999; Marco et al., 2001). For egg-laying, newts seem to prefer plants with soft and thin leaves as for example sweet or flote grasses (*Glyceria* spp.), water mint (*Mentha aquatica*), water forget-me-not (*Myosotis scorpioides*) and broad-leaved pond weed (*Potamogeton natans*) (Langton et al., 2001; **Paper I**). A female can lay approximately 200 to 300 eggs during a season and between 5 and 15 eggs every day (Thiesmeier and Kupfer, 2000; Langton et al., 2001). When all eggs are laid, and the courtship period has come to an end, all adults leave the pond. In Scandinavia, the majority of the adult newts leave the pond in June or July (Malmgren, 2002).

The development from egg to free-living larvae takes approximately 2 to 3 weeks, depending mostly on water temperature. Due to inherent defects, half of the embryos fail to develop to the larval stage (Macgregor and Horner, 1980; Malmgren, 2001). Newt larvae are predators, and during early development they seem to prefer planktonic crustaceans (Dolmen and Koksvik, 1983). Later they also feed on larger aquatic invertebrates, like nymphs of aquatic beetles and mayflies, mosquito larvae or leeches and molluscs. They may also predate on larvae of other amphibian species or even of their own species (Griffiths and Mylotte, 1987; Griffiths et al., 1994; Griffiths, 1996). Newt larvae are in turn exposed to predation from fish, dragonfly nymphs and water beetles (Miaud, 1993; Cooke, 2001). For protection, they often hide in the vegetation or at the bottom of the pond. Presence of predatory fish is quite disastrous for eggs and larvae, and may even exclude occurrence of great crested newts in a pond (Cooke and Frazer, 1976; Thiesmeier and Kupfer, 2000; Malmgren, 2001). When adult newts select breeding habitat, they appear to avoid water with fish presence (Malmgren, 2001). Newts probably use chemical cues to detect fish, and actively select alternative breeding ponds when such are available (Malmgren, 2001), which is not always the case in modern landscapes.

After approximately four months of development, the outer gills of the larvae are resorbed, and they start to use lungs for breathing. Concurrently, other morphological features prepare the young newts to a terrestrial life (for example the skin thickens and adapts to terrestrial conditions). From August to October or even November, metamorphs migrate from the aquatic habitat to start a terrestrial life (Malmgren, 2007). Since egg-laying is prolonged,

migration is not synchronized, but it is most intensive during warm nights with rain (Thiesmeier and Kupfer, 2000; Malmgren, 2001; Malmgren, 2002). Great crested newts become sexually mature at the age of 2-3 years (Griffiths, 1996). Immature individuals most often stay in their terrestrial habitat during this period, but may also return to their natal pond even before reaching an adult stage (Griffiths, 1996; Langton et al., 2001).

When the reproductive period is over, adult newts start an active period in their terrestrial habitat. After leaving the pond, individuals seem to move quickly seeking protection in suitable terrestrial environments (Paper III). While in their terrestrial phase, great crested newts probably consume mainly worms, centipedes, woodlice and insect larvae (Griffiths, 1996; Thiesmeier and Kupfer, 2000). Adult and juvenile newts are exposed to a number of potential predators, both in their aquatic and terrestrial habitat. These include snakes, birds and mammals (Gleed-Owen, 1996; Jehle and Arntzen, 2000; Thiesmeier and Kupfer, 2000; Webley, 2007). However, the species is to some extent protected by the presence of granular glands in the skin, which may release poisonous secretions. Great crested newts are mainly nocturnal and lead a cryptic life, especially in their terrestrial phase where they mostly move and hide among for example leaf litter, logs and stones or in underground cavities (Jehle, 2000; Jehle and Arntzen, 2000; Schabetsberger et al., 2004; Paper III). This behaviour is probably in part predator avoidance but also due to their sensitivity for desiccation (but see also Malmgren et al., 2007). Structures and microhabitats such as dead wood and leaf litter are also abundant resources of prey (Bobiek et al., 2005). When temperatures fall below approximately 2°C newts seek refuge for hibernation (Griffiths, 1996). Adequate refuge sites are probably constituted by deeper and warmer sites than the daily hideouts used during the rest of the year. Newts may also seek hibernation sites in human made structures, such as stone fences and cellars (Thiesmeier and Kupfer, 2000; Jehle and Arntzen, 2001). The length of the hibernation period is most likely determined by temperature and rainfall. In field population studies individuals that are up to 16 or 17 years old can sometimes be found (Hagström, 1979; Dolmen, 1982; Thiesmeier and Kupfer, 2000).

3 Threats and conservation

More than one-third of the known amphibian species of the world are threatened and, as stated above, there are many potential reasons for this cataclysm (Griffiths et al., 1996; Stuart et al., 2004; Cushman, 2006; IUCN, 2011). Moreover, more than half of all European amphibian species are declining in population (Temple and Cox, 2009). Population declines of the great crested newt have been observed throughout Europe, as for example in Great Britain (Beebee, 1997; Beebee and Griffiths, 2000), Norway (Dolmen, 1982), Germany (Thiesmeier and Kupfer, 2000), Austria (Thiesmeier and Kupfer, 2000) and the former Soviet Union (Kuzmin, 1994). Since the knowledge of the actual distribution of the great crested newt in Sweden is incomplete, it is difficult to draw far-reaching conclusions about its conservation status. Nevertheless, a large survey effort in recent years has shown that the species is more widely distributed than previously thought (e.g. Hellberg et al., 2004; Johansson et al., 2005; Andersson et al., 2008). As mentioned earlier, this increase in number of known localities gives a more legible picture of the actual distribution of the species, and a more precise understanding of the historical distribution is now beginning to emerge. However, it is important to stress that the observed increase in the amount of observations is not evidence for a population increase or a more favourable conservation status. Other studies have shown that the contrary is probably more correct. For example, in 2005 a re-survey was made in 296 ponds with previously known presence of great crested newts (observations made from 1980 and forward), in four counties in the south-central parts of Sweden (Malmgren, 2007). The results from this survey showed that the species was absent from approximately 30 % of the surveyed ponds. The results show that the species is in decline also in Sweden, in rates comparable to that observed in other countries (Thiesmeier and Kupfer, 2000; English Nature, 2001; Edgar and Bird, 2006). However, in some parts of Sweden (especially Skåne), where several hundreds of ponds have been created and restored, the species may actually be in a state of recovery (Stenberg and Nyström, 2008).

Large-scale changes in landscape structure and land-use during the last 200 years have resulted in a great loss of structurally and compositionally diverse landscapes throughout the distribution area of the great crested newt (e.g. Bernes, 1994; Ihse, 1995; Hull, 1997; Stoate et al., 2009). For example, Hull (1997) reported a 40-90 % reduction in pond numbers during the 20th century in several countries in north-western Europe. Different kinds of wetlands have been ditched, cultivated and/or forested. In more recent years, many small ponds in agricultural landscapes that were previously used for e.g. providing water to cattle or fire extinguishing, have been filled up and replaced by wells and tapped water. Development, for example in the form of infrastructure, new industries, residential areas etc., are also negative factors causing ponds to disappear, especially in the vicinity of towns and cities (Hamer and McDonnell, 2008; Paper V). All this results in a large decrease of aquatic habitat for the great crested newt and destruction of ponds is still one of the most common causes for disappearance of great crested newt populations (Beebee, 1997; Thiesmeier and Kupfer, 2000; Malmgren, 2007).

The quality of remaining potential habitats is also affected by changes in the landscape and by changes in the practical use of ponds and small waters (Houlahan and Findlay, 2004; Denoël and Ficetola, 2008). Amphibians are in general regarded as being highly susceptible to environmental pollutants, due to physiological requirements and their biphasic life cycle, and this also applies to the great crested newt (Blaustein et al., 1994; Griffiths and DeWijer, 1994; Thiesmeier and Kupfer, 2000; Skei et al., 2006). Ponds in agricultural landscapes are to a great extent affected by chemicals and nutrients from nearby fields and pastures (Brönmark and Hansson, 1998; Relyea, 2005; Kadoya et al., 2011). Consequently, eutrophication is a problem in landscapes with extensive farming and use of artificial fertilizers. A large influx of nutrients and a reduced use of agricultural ponds and semi-natural pastures (e.g. by grazing) speed up the natural process of overgrowth of ponds and their surroundings (Oldham, 1994; Brönmark and Hansson, 1998; Brönmark and Hansson, 2002). As indicated by Paper I and other studies, this severely decreases the quality of the aquatic habitat for the great crested newt and other amphibians (Oldham et al., 2000; Sztatecsny et al., 2004; Nyström et al., 2007). Too much inflow of nutrients may also cause an explosive growth of algae, quickly reducing the quality of the aquatic habitat even further (Brönmark and Hansson, 1998; Kadoya et al., 2011). In addition, air pollution deteriorates the quality of the water, lowering pH-values and increasing nutrient contents (Griffiths, 1996; Brönmark and Hansson, 1998; Jeffries,

1998). Introduction of fish into ponds is one of the main reasons for the disappearance of great crested newt populations in several regions (Beebee, 1985; Baker and Halliday, 1999; Thiesmeier and Kupfer, 2000; Joly et al., 2001).

Afforestation and forest succession in the immediate surroundings of a pond causes shadowing followed by lower temperatures and decreased sun insolation to the aquatic habitat (van Buskirk, 2011). Otherwise, the terrestrial habitat is probably negatively affected by logging of forest, ditching and other forestry measures (Latham and Oldham, 1996; Schabetsberger et al., 2004). The overall reduction of dead wood in forests and pastures reduces the supply of suitable hiding places and food availability. Increased proportions of fields, roads and other inhospitable environments generally decrease the amount of terrestrial habitats for amphibians and increase landscape fragmentation (Swan and Oldham, 1993; Oldham et al., 2000; Fahrig, 2001; Fahrig and Rytwinski, 2009).

Decreasing populations and local extinctions have brought increased awareness of the situation of the great crested newt. Today, the species is protected by law in most European countries within the distribution area, including Sweden (Artskyddsförordningen 2007:845). The great crested newt is also listed on Annexes II and IV of the EC Habitats Directive and Appendix II of the Bern Convention. It is protected under Schedule 2 of the Conservation Regulations 1994 (Regulation 38) and Schedule 5 of the WCA 1981. This means that not only the species itself, but also its habitats are protected. In Sweden, presence of great crested newts may prevent human exploitation of land, if the exploitation is not "[...] for consideration of public health and safety or for other dire reasons with an all overshadowing public interest" (Artskyddsförordningen 2007:845, 14§). According to the legislation, exemptions may only be made if there are no other appropriate alternatives to destruction of the species' habitats and if the exemption does not aggravate the maintenance of favourable conservation status of the species in its natural distribution area. In the United Kingdom, Sweden and for entire Europe, species action plans have been produced in order to facilitate and guide conservation measures for the species (Edgar and Bird, 2006; Malmgren, 2007). The species action plan in Sweden have resulted in for example construction and restoration of ponds, and increased public awareness of the species and its prerequisites.

4 Two distinct habitats

As reviewed above, great crested newts are using two different environments: the aquatic habitat and the terrestrial habitat. The most common scenario for amphibians is that they need several habitats to complete their life cycles, including breeding, foraging and hibernation sites (Gibbs, 2000; Semlitsch and Bodie, 2003; Stevens and Baguette, 2008). Most amphibians breed in freshwater habitats and spend the rest of their active period in terrestrial habitats (Skelly et al., 1999; Marsh and Trenham, 2001). The spatial proximity of high quality aquatic and terrestrial habitats in the landscape is the key for the maintenance of viable populations and therefore this perspective is important in conservation work (Latham and Oldham, 1996; Semlitsch, 2002; Ficetola and De Bernardi, 2004).

In Sweden, the great crested newt can be found in a variety of aquatic and terrestrial environments. The species inhabits and breeds in shallow and nutrient-rich waters in agricultural landscapes as well as in deeper and more nutrient-poor ponds surrounded by for example mires and forest landscapes (Hellberg et al., 2004; Malmgren, 2007). While on land, they can be found in deciduous forests with herbaceous undergrowth as well as in coniferous forests with bilberry and lingonberry sprigs. There are still many gaps in knowledge concerning the habitat selection of the species, especially in its terrestrial habitat and on the landscape level. In many areas where habitats have disappeared in great numbers, the species has been forced to cling on to unfavourable aquatic and terrestrial habitats, in lack of better options. Therefore it is often quite difficult to see from present habitat use which types of ponds are actually preferred.

4.1 The aquatic habitat

The aquatic habitat selection of the great crested newt is generally better known and studied than its terrestrial counterpart (e.g. Griffiths, 1996; Thiesmeier and Kupfer, 2000; Malmgren, 2001; Malmgren, 2007). The species is relatively easy to find in its aquatic phase and both reliable and easily applied survey methods exist (Swan and Oldham, 1993; Griffiths et al., 1996; Langton et al., 2001; Malmgren et al., 2005). Furthermore, the aquatic habitat is often better defined in space than the terrestrial habitat. Several factors are of importance when assessing the quality of the aquatic habitat. These include physical, chemical and biological characteristics but also spatial considerations (e.g. juxtaposition in the landscape).

Stagnant water is preferred as aquatic habitat by the great crested newt. A typical habitat for the species seems to be a moderately shallow pond, small lake or tarn with a surface area of approximately 50-250 m² (Thiesmeier and Kupfer, 2000; Langton et al., 2001; Sztatecsny et al., 2004; Denoël and Ficetola, 2008). However, great crested newts have also been found breeding in larger and deeper ponds and can occasionally be found along the shores of small lakes (Oldham et al., 2000; Thiesmeier and Kupfer, 2000), so perhaps surface area and depth are characters of secondary importance. To allow for abundant submerged vegetation and higher water temperatures, the shoreline is preferably shallow, with a gentle slope. It is crucial that the habitat holds water at least until the end of the larval development in October or November, but it does not necessarily have to be permanent (Griffiths, 1997; Denoël and Lehmann, 2006; Malmgren, 2007). Periodic drying might instead be positive, as it reduces the abundance of predators and slows down overgrowth with vegetation (Beja and Alcazar, 2003; Ficetola and De Bernardi, 2004).

As described above, the great crested newts are sensitive to predators, especially during embryonic and larval phases. Fish in particular are severe predators, and therefore presence of fish in a pond is a strong negative factor (Beebee, 1985; Baker and Halliday, 1999; Joly et al., 2001; Malmgren, 2001; Skei et al., 2006). Fish may also compete for the same food resources (e.g. invertebrates) and cause changes to the pond ecosystems, which may then become unsuitable for predatory amphibians as the great crested newt (Schabetsberger et al., 2006).

Most studies investigating the biological diversity in ponds and their surroundings have shown that physical, biological and landscape characteristics appear to be more important than chemical characteristics for plants and animals in these aquatic environments (Laan and Verboom, 1990; Pavignano et al., 1990; Sztatecsny, et al., 2004; Denoël and Ficetola, 2007). However, when considering important aquatic habitat parameters, it is important to keep in mind that a variety of physical and chemical variables interact to determine the composition and distribution of life in a pond (Angelibért et al., 2004; Biggs et al., 2005; Scheffer and van Geest, 2006; **Paper II**). Equally important is the opposite – biological factors influence the chemistry and physical parameters of a pond to a large extent (Gustafsson and Boström, 2011), as for example when levels of temperature and oxygen vary as a response to vegetation cover in different stages of pond succession (Angelibért et al., 2004). In addition, cascade effects between species and different levels in the ecosystem may convey unforeseen changes due to small differences in for example levels of nutrients or following presence or absence of certain key species (Aronsson and Stenson, 1995; Cottenie and De Meester, 2004).

4.2 The terrestrial habitat and the pondscape

While on land, great crested newts need foraging opportunities; they need places and structures for refuge during daytime and where they can hibernate. Furthermore, they must be able to move between these different environments and between aquatic and terrestrial habitats. Studies of terrestrial habitat selection of great crested newts are scarce (but see e.g., Jehle, 2000; Jehle and Arntzen, 2000; Joly et al., 2001; Malmgren et al., 2007; Hartel et al., 2010a). While on land the species leads a secretive life. Generally, fewer survey methods are also available for newts in their terrestrial phase. Searching for newts on land is not very effective and often leads to destruction of their habitat, and is therefore seldom performed (Jehle, 2000; Langton et al., 2001). Thus, observations concerning terrestrial habitat use are rarely based on systematic surveys. However, a few studies using radio-transmitters have been performed (Jehle, 2000; Jehle and Arntzen, 2000; Schabetsberger et al., 2004; Paper III). Combined, different studies and anecdotal observations indicate that the great crested newt prefers environments with a high coverage in the field vegetation layer and/or with a high quantity of substrate like leaf litter, boulders and logs on the ground. All in all, these structures offer places for hiding and often contain a magnitude of invertebrate prey. Environments where great crested newts are found include forest, deciduous woodland, wetland, semi-natural pastures and grasslands (Griffiths, 1996; Latham and Oldham, 1996; Jehle and Arntzen, 2000; Thiesmeier and Kupfer, 2000; Langton et al., 2001). However, environments such as coniferous forests, gravel pits and even former industrial areas containing construction waste appear to be sufficient terrestrial habitats (Latham and Oldham, 1996; Thiesmeier and Kupfer, 2000; Paper V). Possibly, the key characteristic for an environment to be suitable as

a terrestrial habitat for the great crested newt is the presence of sufficient microhabitats. Some less optimal terrestrial environments may be used by the species when there are few or no alternatives, due to recent landscape change. Landscape elements that seem to be avoided by great crested newts are for example open fields, where the risk of predation and desiccation probably increases dramatically as there is little coverage and few hiding places (Jehle and Arntzen, 2000; Oldham et al., 2000; Joly et al., 2001; Malmgren, 2002).

Most important for the great crested newt seems to be the quality of the area directly adjacent to a breeding pond (Jehle, 2000; Malmgren, 2002) or within a few hundred meters from the pond (Dolmen, 1982; Latham and Oldham, 1996; Baker and Halliday, 1999; Jehle and Arntzen, 2000; Oldham and Humphries, 2000; **Paper III**). For example, Jehle (2000) showed that 95 % of radio-marked individuals stayed within approximately 60 m from the breeding pond. Newly constructed ponds in areas with great crested newts are quickly colonized if they are located within approximately 500 m from an old pond (Latham and Oldham, 1996; Baker and Halliday, 1999; Kupfer and Kneitz, 2000; Rannap, 2009). Other studies have shown that individuals may migrate up to 1300 m within one year (Kupfer, 1998), which indicate that at least some individuals move over larger distances, given that the landscape matrix allow for dispersal. Juvenile great crested newts may be more eager to migrate longer distances than adults, while adults more often return to the same breeding pond year after year (Arntzen and Wallis, 1991; Kupfer and Kneitz, 2000).

Several studies have shown the importance of metapopulation dynamics for the great crested newt and other amphibian species (Sjögren, 1991; Vos and Chardon, 1998; Joly at al., 2001; Marsh and Trenham, 2001; Semlitsch, 2002; Denoël and Lehmann, 2006). Migrating behaviour promotes dispersal and is probably more common in populations with high-quality aquatic habitats that produce a surplus of individuals (Stevens and Baguette, 2008). Overcrowding of an aquatic habitat most likely results in individuals searching for alternatives. To withhold functioning metapopulation dynamics there must be more than a few breeding populations, which are connected to each other to different extents and have access to alternative ponds. Likewise, natural dynamics in for example succession with overgrowth of ponds, and presence and abundance of predators, necessitate a landscape with several potential aquatic habitats within migration distance (Sjögren-Gulve, 1994; Griffiths and Williams, 2000; Jeffries, 2005). It is also important that an adequate disturbance is present in the landscape, creating and renewing ponds continuously. The combination of aquatic and terrestrial habitats constitutes a pond landscape, or "pondscape" (Fig. 3) (Swan and Oldham, 1993; Joly et al., 2001; Malmgren, 2002). In a natural landscape, such dynamic pondscapes

might have been created by for example recurring floods, meandering rivers or beaver activity. Even though humans have often caused destruction of natural habitats and removed natural dynamics from landscapes, construction of ponds foremost in agricultural landscapes have probably sometimes replaced and/or complemented natural habitats.



Figure 3. A typical "pondscape" for the great crested newt (courtesy of Per Wedholm).

Different terrestrial environments have different quality and function in the pondscape. Areas that do not function as terrestrial habitat for the great crested newt might still be important as corridors between aquatic and terrestrial habitats. An ideal pondscape for the great crested newt and other pondbreeding amphibians is constituted by several used or potential aquatic habitats. In connection to the aquatic habitat, there must be a sufficient amount of adequate terrestrial habitat. Moreover, the surrounding and interjacent environment should allow for migration between aquatic and terrestrial habitats (Boothby, 1997; Griffiths and Williams, 2000; Langton et al., 2001). It is not clear what makes a pondscape large enough (i.e. number of ponds and area of terrestrial habitat) to support a viable population of great crested newts.

5 Evaluating the habitats of the great crested newt

The aim of this thesis is to analyze what constitutes valuable ecological determinants of great crested newt habitats. I examine physical, chemical and biological characteristics of the aquatic habitat as well as the species' movements and micro-habitat use in the terrestrial habitat. I also look into landscape characteristics of the terrestrial environment surrounding aquatic habitats. The purpose of the thesis is also to present the results in the perspective of conservation measures and to discuss them in relation to practical examples.

5.1 Study area

The areas where the study was conducted are all located in Örebro County in south-central Sweden (approximately 59° N 15° E). The county covers an area of approximately 9 300 km² (Fig. 4). In the northern, southern and western parts of the county the bedrock is mainly granite of the Scandinavian Shield. The elevation here varies between 50 and 400 meters above sea level (in approximately 80 % of the county area) (Fig. 4). The bedrock of the central eastern part of the county is mainly sedimentary and Cambro-Silurian, with sand-, lime- and clay stone. Here, the elevation is between 20 and 100 meters above sea-level (approximately 20 % of the county area). The division between higher and lower elevation areas in the county is sharp and in part consists of escarpments. This sharp division brings a well-defined limit in climate and temperatures. The "*Limes Norrlandicus*", which runs across the central regions of Örebro County, represents the northern distribution limit for many nemoral or hemiboreal species, and the southern limit for many boreal species.



Figure 4. Three maps showing the Örebro County. The uppermost map shows locations of studied ponds with presence (grey circles) and absence (open circles) of great crested newts (the small map in the upper left corner shows the general location of the Örebro County in Sweden). The map at the bottom left shows topography and the map at the bottom right show land categories. © Lantmäteriet, I2011/0032

For example, many hardwood tree species (e.g. Ulmus glabra, Fraxinus excelsior, Quercus robur, Tilia cordata) mainly occurs in the lowland and in pockets on slopes elsewhere. Otherwise, the forests of the county are primarily coniferous (Picea abies, Pinus sylvestris) with some admixture of deciduous trees (mainly Populus tremula, Betula pubescens, B. pendula, Alnus glutinosa, Sorbus aucuparia). The central eastern part is the most densely populated, and the land use is dominated by large-scale agriculture, with fragmented remains of small-scale farmland with natural pastures (Fig. 4). The northern, southern and western parts of the county is less populated and dominated by forests with extensive forestry. Small scale agriculture is also present. The great crested newt is distributed throughout the county, in small-scale agricultural landscapes as well as in areas mainly dominated by mixed or coniferous forests (Fig. 4). The species is also present in more large scale agricultural landscapes, though there are a smaller number of adequate ponds for breeding and a smaller amount of terrestrial habitat. In addition to the great crested newt, there are four amphibian species present in the study area (Bufo bufo, Rana arvalis, R. temporaria, and Lissotriton vulgaris) and all these species may be found throughout the county.

5.2 Paper I: Newts and pond plant diversity

Observations of the great crested newt suggest that a good quality aquatic habitat for the species should contain a quantity of high-quality food resources, few or no large predators and abundant and varied vegetation. Several other amphibian species, as well as invertebrates using ponds and similar types of aquatic habitats appear to have many demands in common with the great crested newt (Gee et al., 1997; Sahlén and Ekestubbe, 2001; Hartel et al., 2007; Honkanen et al., 2011). This implies that there is a possible indicator ability of the species. In **Paper I**, the composition and quality of the vegetation in the aquatic habitat of the great crested newt was investigated. Specifically, I wanted to know if the number of aquatic plant species was higher in ponds with great crested newts than in ponds without the species.

I analyzed the diversity of macrophytes in paired samples of ponds in a total of five geographically separated sites. Each sample contained one pond with presence of great crested newts and one pond where the species was absent. During the peak of the vegetation period, aquatic macrophytes were sampled by establishing transects across the ponds and by collecting and identifying plants throughout the ponds. The surface vegetation cover was estimated visually as the area covered by emerging plants as a proportion of total pond area. The collected data were analyzed using paired two-sample t-test and Type II regression analysis (Sokal and Rohlf, 1995). I also performed a Spearman correlation analysis on the relationship between plant diversity and surface vegetation cover to see if these factors correlated with presence and absence of the great crested newt.

In total, I identified 117 plant species accumulated in all ponds studied during the survey. Ponds with and without great crested newts had a cumulative plant species richness of 93 and 68 species, respectively. In general, ponds with great crested newts had a higher mean number of plant species (on average 30.8 ± 5.4) than ponds where the species was absent (on average 21.4 ± 3.4) (paired *t*-test: *t*=2.35, df=4, *P*<0.05). The results also implied that the great crested newt prefers ponds with a lower coverage of surface vegetation. However, the difference in vegetation cover between ponds with great crested newts (mean cover $53.0\pm10.91\%$ SE) and ponds where the species was absent (mean cover $65.6\pm17.63\%$ SE) was not statistically significant (paired *t*-test: *t*=1.23, df=4, *P*>0.05). Plant diversity declined as the amount of pond surface vegetation cover increased, but this tendency was not significant either (Spearman's correlation test: *r*=-0.55, *P*>0.05) (Fig 5).



Figure 5. Relationship between aquatic plant species richness and pond vegetation cover in the ten studied ponds. Filled and open circles represent, respectively, ponds where great crested newts were present and absent. Pond designations follow table 1 in **Paper I**.

The results from the study support the hypothesis that high vegetation diversity is an important feature of the great crested newt aquatic habitat. A varied macrophyte flora presents a variety of alternatives for egg laying and as protection for eggs and larvae from predators. Probably, rich and diverse vegetation is also positive for the development of a rich invertebrate fauna (Friday, 1987; Oertli et al., 2002). This secondary effect is likely to have a positive influence on the reproductive success of the great crested newt, as it increases food availability. Ponds and other small lakes and wetlands, that constitute aquatic habitat for the great crested newt, naturally undergo a succession with overgrowth as the end result (Angelibért et al., 2004). When a pond grows older, several colonizing plants tends to decrease in favour for a few dominating macrophyte species that are more competitive in later phases of pond development (Engelhardt and Ritchie, 2001; Engelhardt and Ritchie, 2002; Loreau et al., 2001). As sediments and litter accumulate, the pond becomes more shallow and nutrient rich. Underwater macrophytes are replaced successively by more semi-aquatic plants such as grasses and reeds (Fig. 6) (Angelibért et al., 2004). My results indicate that this plant succession, reinforced and accelerated by high nutrient availability, reduces the quality of the aquatic habitat for the great crested newt with time, and that newts may prefer early and mid phases. As succession progress the pond will overgrow and eventually be totally covered. Consequently, open water will disappear, making the site less favourable for newts in terms of reproduction (Oldham et al., 2000). Thus, for a pondscape to be sustainable from great crested newt perspective over longer periods of time, both landscape dynamics and pond succession is important. Processes that cause recurrent disturbances, creating or re-creating ponds as aquatic habitats for the great crested newts, are therefore of great importance (Semlitsch, 2002; Rannap, 2009).



Figure 6. Schematic figure showing succession with overgrowth in ponds, leading to degradation of a great crested newt habitat.

The results confirm the hypothesis that the diversity of aquatic plant species is higher in ponds with great crested newts than in ponds without the species. Vascular plant species richness is not only important for the great crested newt, but also for many other organisms thriving in ponds and other small wetlands (Oertli et al., 2002; Honkanen et al., 2011). In this perspective, the study also supports the idea of using the great crested newt as an indicator or umbrella species for biological diversity of pond species communities.

5.3 Paper II: Pond quality and great crested newts

The chemical status of the aquatic habitat for the great crested newts, as well as the tolerance of especially larvae and eggs to different chemical and physical conditions, have been studied by several researchers (e.g. Cooke and Frazer, 1976; Griffiths and DeWijer, 1994; Thiesmeier and Kupfer, 2000; Skei et al., 2006). For example, eggs and larvae are especially sensitive to the presence of toxic substances. Further, high levels of different nitrogen compounds and low pH can be toxic for amphibians, including the great crested newt, and may cause increased embryonic death, reduced hatchability, and sub-lethal responses (Andrén et al., 1988; Griffiths and De Wijer, 1994; Watt and Oldham, 1995; Ortiz et al., 2004). The importance of water quality parameters to the great crested newt is therefore addressed specifically in **Paper II**.

I compared a number of physical and chemical parameters between ponds without great crested newts, ponds with great crested newts and ponds where the species was successfully reproducing. A cluster of 33 ponds were surveyed for great crested newts using standard methods. Water sampling and temperature measurements were conducted in all ponds on four different occasions during one year. In later analyses, mean values from these four occasions were used for 29 of the surveyed ponds. Eleven parameters of water quality were measured in each pond.

I found significant differences (two-sample t-test) between ponds with and without great crested newts for three of the measured variables: temperatures were higher in ponds with great crested newts (t=3.10, df=27, P<0.05); total phosphorus (t=2.24, df=27, P<0.05) and the phosphate/phosphorus ratio (t=2.49, df=27, P<0.05) levels were higher in ponds where the species was present. Principal components analysis and logistic regression with Akaike's Information Criteria (AIC) combined, showed that the most important variables distinguishing between ponds with and ponds without great crested newts were nitrogen, phosphorus and temperature (Fig. 7). When comparing ponds without newts, ponds with newts but without reproduction and ponds with reproduction, there was a significant difference among the groups found

on a PC-axis which was highly correlated with variables corresponding to nutrients. The group with great crested newts but without reproduction had significantly higher values than ponds without newts (B=2.476, P<0.05) and ponds with reproduction of newts (B=5.400, P<0.05). There were no significant differences between ponds with reproduction and ponds where the great crested newt was absent, in terms of the variables measured in this study.



Figure 7. Levels of nutrients (nitrogen and phosphorus) and temperature differed between ponds without newts, ponds with newts and ponds with reproduction. Ponds without newts and with reproduction of newts had lower values of nutrients than ponds where newts were present without reproducing. The two groups with presence of newts, combined, had higher mean temperature than ponds without newts.

The results of the study confirm that there are differences in water quality between ponds, which are of importance for the presence and successful reproduction of the great crested newt. The most obvious differences were observed when comparing levels of nitrogen, phosphorus and temperature, while differences in for example pH, conductivity and alkalinity appeared less important. Possibly the great crested newt has adapted to manage a wide variety of aquatic habitats, with a variation in levels of chemical substances. Of course, noxious levels of any kind would be avoided actively by adults or result in unsuccessful breeding (Watt and Oldham, 1995; Malmgren, 2001; Ortiz et al., 2004; Smith et al., 2006; Griffis-Kyle, 2007). However, when selecting among aquatic habitats, breeding adult newts may prefer environments where there are optimal conditions for egg laying and where survival of eggs and larvae have the highest priority (Malmgren, 2001). For this choice, levels of chemical substances per se may be secondary. More important could be for example good-quality substrate for egg-laying (abundant and varied vegetation, sensu Paper I), that the pond is free from ice

when adults arrive in spring (otherwise they may leave for another pond) and/or adequate overall temperature and high production of prey. The quality of vegetation is to a large extent affected by the levels of nutrients (Engelhardt and Richie, 2001; Loreau et al., 2001; Knutson et al., 2004; Rosset et al., 2010), which could explain the significant differences in levels of nitrogen and phosphorus. Relatively high water temperatures are almost certainly important for egg and larval growth and development. Time of development from egg to larvae to adult newt differs depending on water temperature (Griffiths and De Wijer, 1994; D'Amen et al., 2007). High temperature and sun insolation is not only affecting growth and development of the great crested newt directly, it is also positive for the emergence of abundant aquatic vegetation and for maintaining a plentiful supply of invertebrate food resources (e.g., Werner and Glennemeier, 1999; Oldham et al., 2000; Thiesmeier and Kupfer, 2000; Rosset et al., 2010). Ponds that lack features essential for reproduction may be sufficient enough for foraging and are perhaps visited by moving adults in search for new potential breeding habitat. They may also attract individuals from over-crowded aquatic habitats in the vicinity, but are as such suboptimal habitats for reproduction. If some individuals breed and lay eggs, scarcity of adequate egg laying substrate and protecting vegetation may cause increased predation on eggs and larvae and/or exposure to lethal radiation (Miaud, 1994; Griffiths et al., 1996; Oldham et al., 2000; Marco et al., 2001). In this sense, one may divide ponds used by great crested newts into either "nesting sites", sufficient for reproduction, or "resting sites", where newts may stay for foraging or other purposes but without reproducing (Malmgren, 2001). Nesting sites are relative productive ponds with high temperatures, abundant vegetation and high species richness, where most of the nutrients are bound to living organisms. Resting sites may be ponds with lower productivity and a high amount of dissolved nutrients, which would explain the pattern found in the study.

5.4 Paper III: Movements of great crested newts

Like many amphibians, the great crested newt has a biphasic life cycle, with seasonal movements between their aquatic habitat (usually a pond) and terrestrial habitat. Nevertheless, little is known about the terrestrial phase. Since conducting terrestrial studies on social interactions among newts in the field is difficult, most studies on the great crested newt and other pond-breeding amphibians have been conducted in their aquatic habitat where they are comparatively easy to find. Furthermore, most conservation measures for the species is focused on breeding ponds, leaving terrestrial elements of its

habitats neglected. However, to achieve favourable conservation status of a population and of the species, not only the aquatic habitat of the species should be considered.

To constitute a sufficient terrestrial habitat for the great crested newt an environment should provide foraging opportunities, as well as protection from desiccation and predators, during post-breeding activities and juvenile dispersal (Griffiths, 1996; Thiesmeier and Kupfer, 2000; Langton et al., 2001; Malmgren et al. 2007). The habitat must also contain shelters for refuge during more extreme weather conditions, and allow for hibernation during winter. To delineate the terrestrial habitat of the great crested newt one must obtain knowledge on movement patterns and migration distances on land. It is also crucial to learn more about micro-habitat use in the terrestrial environment. The purpose of **Paper III** is therefore to explore how great crested newts move in their terrestrial habitats, when leaving their aquatic habitat after breeding. I also wanted to find out if the species preferred certain structures as day shelters or when moving through their terrestrial habitat. The study was performed in 2001, as one of the first telemetric studies on great crested newts.

I used radio transmitters to mark and follow the movements of great crested newts on land on two different locations (Lillsjön and Äspsätter) west of the city of Örebro in south-central Sweden. Radio-tracking is a monitoring technique which is suitable for collecting data on migration patterns and terrestrial habitat use of newts, as searching for newts in their terrestrial habitat may otherwise be destructive due to their cryptical way of living. In total, 20 (Lillsjön) and 9 (Äspsätter) individuals were marked with transmitters implanted in the abdomen of the newts. Implantation was chosen prior to external transmitters to avoid injuries on the animals and to prevent transmitters from falling off (Jehle and Arntzen, 2000). The batteries of the transmitters allowed for 3-5 weeks of tracking. Tracking was mainly conducted during night, when the newts were most active, and all individuals were tracked at least once every day. Shelter use and a number of terrestrial parameters were recorded on all locations where the individuals were found during tracking. The locations were divided into "short stays", where individuals stayed for a shorter period than 72 hours, and "long stays" where they stayed for more than 72 hours. The locations where they stayed for a longer period were considered as sites preferred by the great crested newt.

All individuals but 4 left the release-point on the night of release and moved between 9 and 132 m away from the pond. Most of the marked individuals made their largest single movement during the first 24 hours after release. Maximum single movement of an individual within 24 hours was 132 m at Lillsjön and 47 m at Äspsätter. The longest total migration distance by one individual was 293 m at Lillsjön and 94 m at Äspsätter. The longest net migrated distance was 207 m and 75 m respectively. The minimum convex polygon covered an area of 3.9 ha at Lillsjön (combined, n=19) and 0.6 ha at Äspsätter (combined, n=9). The results indicate a preference for structures such as underground cavities among tree roots, rotting tree stumps and dead logs (Fig. 8). Such elements and structures could be used to improve an otherwise insufficient terrestrial environment as terrestrial habitat for the great crested newt. However, the tracked newts were often found in leaf litter or in the surface vegetation when staying for shorter periods, for example when moving between shelters.



Figure 8. Shelters used by great crested newts marked with radio-transmitters in two different habitats in south-central Sweden. Black bars shows proportion of total number of shelters used by the marked individuals at the two ponds combined (n=126); white bars include shelters used for less than 72 hours (n=57); grey bars include shelters used for more than 72 hours (n=69).

The distances and areas covered by the tracked newts in this study agree with results from similar studies performed on the great crested newt and other species of the same genera, suggesting that the terrestrial area mainly used as habitat lies within approximately 200 m from a breeding pond (Cooke and Frazer, 1976; Jehle, 2000; Jehle and Arntzen, 2000; Thiesmeier and Kupfer, 2000; Schabetsberger et al., 2004). Short migration distances should be preferred, when possible, to allow for earlier arrival at the breeding site in spring. This is especially important in the study area, considering the short breeding season at the northern distribution limit of the species. Possibly,

migration in the terrestrial environment is directed towards preferred microhabitats and shelters that have proven to be of good quality (for example providing frost safe hibernation sites) (Malmgren, 2002).

Almost all movements took place within forested areas, although a large part of the surroundings of the ponds consisted of fields and other open land (see also Malmgren, 2001; Malmgren, 2002). As has also been demonstrated in other studies, this indicates that great crested newts avoid fields and similar open environments and prefer woodland or semi-natural meadows and pastures when on land (Jehle and Arntzen, 2000; Joly et al., 2001; **Paper IV**). However, there are probably structural differences within the forest and the availability of micro-habitats and suitable shelters may vary substantially and could in some areas be a limited resource.

The relatively short migration distances shown in this and other studies demonstrate the importance of connectivity in landscapes or pondscapes. When delineating reserves or management areas for great crested newts, it is of vital importance to consider the combination of aquatic and terrestrial habitats, and to delimit sufficient amount of adequate terrestrial habitat in the near surroundings of one or several potential breeding ponds. Delineation of terrestrial reserves should be made according to preferred habitats rather than constructing a circular reserve around a breeding habitat (see also Dodd and Cade, 1998; Schabetsberger et al., 2004).

5.5 Paper IV: Landscape composition and newt occurrence

Amphibians in general are much dependent on the environment surrounding their breeding habitat, due to their biphasic life cycle and their restricted dispersal ability (Bowne and Bowers, 2004; Becker et al., 2009; Popescu and Hunter, 2011). In pondscapes inhabited by great crested newts and several other amphibian species, the aquatic and terrestrial habitats constitute equally important landscape elements. Consequently, the amount and quality of both elements must be sufficient and the habitats have to be adjoining or interconnected in some way to make movements between them possible. Also, different types of land use and vegetation are probably important on different spatial scales and distances from an aquatic habitat (Ficetola et al., 2009). When planning for conservation measures, a landscape approach is therefore essential. The land cover and land use pattern of the landscape surrounding aquatic habitats of the great crested newt may mirror a preferred constitution of its terrestrial habitat at different spatial scales. The purpose of Paper IV was to examine differences in structure and composition of landscapes surrounding ponds with and without great crested newts.

In order to explain the use of ponds as aquatic habitats, I related presence and absence to 31 variables in a total of 143 areas (61 with great crested newts and 82 without) throughout Örebro County. I used two important pond variables (presence of predators and size of ponds), one regional variable (altitude), and 15 variables describing the landscape surrounding potential breeding ponds (proportions of 13 land cover categories and distance to forest and deciduous forest). Landscape variables were measured and analyzed at two different scales, within a radius of 100 m (local scale) and 500 m (landscape scale) surrounding the ponds. I used principal component analysis (PCA) and logistic regression analysis with Akaike's Information Criteria (AIC) to distinguish variables important for the distribution of great crested newts.

My results suggest that features such as landscape composition and the amount of available terrestrial habitat may indeed serve to predict which ponds are used as aquatic habitat for the great crested newt. Breeding ponds tended to be located closer to forests and especially deciduous forests than did ponds without great crested newts. Furthermore, a high amount of deciduous forest and pastures was positive for the presence of great crested newts. On the other hand, coniferous forest and mire appeared to have a negative effect on the habitat quality for the species. I could not detect any apparent differences between different scales, but for example deciduous forest was important on both local and landscape scales. These findings confirm the assumption that deciduous forest and that coniferous forest is suboptimal as terrestrial habitat for the species (Griffiths, 1996; Latham and Oldham, 1996; Jehle and Arntzen, 2000; Thiesmeier and Kupfer, 2000; Malmgren 2007).

When the results from **Papers III** and **IV** are combined, it becomes apparent how crucial it is to lift the focus from only recognizing the aquatic habitat as important for the great crested newt. Instead, it must be stressed that the combination of aquatic and terrestrial habitats, and the composition of the pondscape, is the best frame used when considering both the ecology and the appropriate conservation measures for this species. The results imply that management of the great crested newt should to a greater extent include the terrestrial habitat, with special attention given to older, deciduous-rich forest in the vicinity of breeding ponds. Heterogeneous and less intensively managed areas, with a relatively large quantity of deciduous forest appear to be preferred by the great crested newt as well as by other northern European amphibians, as well as a number of other species connected to ponds and small wetlands (Møller and Rørdam, 1985; Latham and Oldham, 1996; Davies et al., 2004; Johansson et al., 2005; Bloechl et al., 2010). However, one should keep in mind that there are several other parameters, both biological and physical, influencing the habitat selection of the great crested newt that are not included in this study. Apart from several aquatic habitat parameters, the structure and relative position of different types of land cover may be important. Also, pond connectivity is important for withholding long-term viability of a population and for supporting the metapopulation dynamics (Karlsson et al., 2007; Ribeiro et al, 2011). The combination of high quality aquatic and terrestrial habitats is the key to maintaining large, viable populations. It is of vital importance to coordinate the planning of aquatic and terrestrial habitats, for example when making priorities for construction and restoration of breeding ponds for newts and other amphibians. Even if the breeding habitats are not destroyed, amphibian populations may be negatively affected by for example agricultural intensification or urban development in the surrounding landscape (Curado et al., 2011). Studies on amphibian populations should consider multiple factors that potentially may affect distribution and survival in different habitats. Nevertheless, I argue that the terrestrial habitat use of the great crested newt may reflect that of other semi-aquatic organisms. The planning and management for this species may therefore benefit a large number of species dependent on functional pondscapes.

5.6 Paper V: Translocation of a great crested newt population

A large number of great crested newt habitats have disappeared or deteriorated during the last century (Beebee and Griffiths, 2000; Edgar and Bird, 2006; Malmgren, 2007). Such habitat destruction, has led to fragmentation of populations and other negative effects that have caused the number of great crested newt populations to decrease. Due to this reduction, the species is now threatened and protected in its entire European distribution range (Temple and Cox, 2009). Current legislation conveys that not only the species itself, but also its habitats, may not be disturbed in any way without permission. Nevertheless, the protection of the species together with an improved knowledge on great crested newt distribution and localities has brought an increased awareness of conflicts between newts and human exploitation projects (Langton et al., 2001; Edgar and Bird, 2006; Malmgren, 2007). The strong protection of the species often prevents exploitation and destruction of habitats, but during recent years a common solution has been to translocate animals to alternative habitats as a compensation for habitat destruction (Edgar and Griffiths, 2004; Edgar et al., 2005). In **Paper V** I therefore describe and discuss an interesting case of translocation of great crested newts carried out close to the city of Örebro in 2007 and 2008.

The translocation project in Örebro was started due to a planned re-fill and development in an old gravel pit containing a great crested newt breeding habitat. The population in question had already been subjected to a translocation, as there were re-fill plans already in 1989. A large part of the population was then moved to a newly constructed pond in a protected area in the outskirts of Örebro. Due to this earlier translocation, the degradation of the aquatic habitat following the translocation and the isolated location in relation to other populations of great crested newts, the municipality got a permit to refill the gravel pit and destroy the newt habitat in 2007. As compensation, they were enjoined to translocate any remaining individuals of the population and the entire amphibian community in the pond to a newly constructed pond located approximately 10 km from the original habitat. To catch and move as many individuals as possible, a drift fence with pitfall traps was put up surrounding the aquatic habitat during two years. The fence was put up in late April, when the newts started to migrate towards their breeding habitat after hibernating in their terrestrial habitat. At the receiving area, all newts and other amphibians were released in the same pond. The result of the translocation was monitored during 2008 and 2009, using a drift fence surrounding the pond where the newts were released.

In the spring and early summer of 2007, a total of 730 great crested newts had been caught and translocated from the original habitat in Marieberg (Fig. 9). An additional 59 great crested newts were caught and translocated during spring and early summer of 2008. The translocated population in the receiving area (Vattenparken) was monitored in 2008 and 2009. During the spring migration from April to June 2008, 49 great crested newts were caught when migrating from their terrestrial habitat towards the pond. This corresponds to 6.7 % of the population that was translocated in 2007 (in total 730 individuals). Great crested newts were also found to have migrated to two other ponds in the vicinity of the receiving pond. From April to June 2009, 224 great crested newts were caught moving from their terrestrial habitat towards the three ponds that were confirmed to hold great crested newts in the Vattenparken area in 2008. Of those, 181 newts migrated towards the pond receiving the translocated individuals in 2007. The visual survey of all ponds in the surrounding area in 2009 showed that adult great crested newts were present in an additional four ponds apart from the receiving pond. Reproduction of great crested newts could be confirmed in the receiving pond in both 2007 and 2008, as eggs and larvae were found. However, in 2009, no reproduction of great crested newts could be confirmed after dip-netting in the three fenced ponds, including the receiving pond.



Figure 9. The different stages of a translocation and the subsequent monitoring of a population of great crested newts (GCN). The population was translocated from its original habitat in Marieberg during two years (2007 and 2008) and surveyed during the two consecutive years at the receiving pond in Vattenparken.

The number of caught great crested newts at the source pond in Marieberg was much larger than anyone had expected before the translocation and the population size was substantially underestimated. Both aquatic and terrestrial habitats were apparently sufficient for breeding and survival, and the population had time to recover after the first translocation in 1990. This exemplifies how difficult it is to determine size and conservation value of a great crested newt population based on habitat appearance and without thorough initial investigations. Since great crested newts may live for a long time without successful breeding (Dolmen, 1982; Thiesmeier and Kupfer, 2000), a significant part of a great crested newt population may abide for several years even in a sub-optimal habitat. Therefore, prior to a massive operation such as a translocation a thorough survey of the population and its prerequisites in the original habitat should be performed at least two years prior to effectuation. Furthermore, before a translocation is performed, it should be confirmed that the receiving area fulfil necessary habitat criteria. In contrast to many other translocation projects, in the case of semi-aquatic organisms like the great crested newt, both aquatic and terrestrial habitat must be accounted for and not only the quality of the receiving pond should be considered.

Translocation of a population may be a tool for companies and authorities to get around the protection of the species and its habitats. However, a large part of the translocated population in Örebro (approximately 90 %) disappeared from the receiving area, which shows that such a project may be very harmful to a population of great crested newts. The monitoring in

Vattenparken in the summer of 2008 indicates that part of the translocated population was established in their new habitat and that reproduction occurred. However, in 2009 no breeding could be confirmed. The reasons for this failure are unclear and the pond in Vattenparken ought to be monitored continuously for at least another seven years, to be able to assess if the translocation project as a whole has failed or succeeded. Long-term monitoring is necessary to distinguish if a translocation project is a success with respect to site sustainability and population size (IUCN, 1998). This is particularly important when working with a long-lived species such as the great crested newt.

Reviews show that a majority of performed and reported translocations appear to be unsuccessful (Dodd and Seigel, 1991; Seigel and Dodd, 2002; Germano and Bishop, 2009). Especially translocations aimed to solve humananimal conflicts run the risk of failure (Fischer and Lindenmayer, 2000; Germano and Bishop, 2009). Most translocation projects have been performed without being properly monitored and without the results being published (Dodd and Seigel, 1991; Oldham and Humphries, 2000; Edgar et al. 2005; Germano and Bishop, 2009). This is problematic because there is a great need to share such results and learn from mistakes and success to make translocations and other conservation measures efficient. We also need further evidence to be able to consider if translocations is a good option as a compensation for habitat exploitation. I argue that translocation should never be a first choice to make human development possible. One should always try to preserve a population in its original habitat (*in situ*) as long as it is possible. To establish new great crested newt populations in for example constructed habitats, translocation of a part of a natural population could be an alternative. However, the use of translocation as an alternative conservation strategy may only be decided after considering the probability of success in the specific case.

6 Implications for management and conservation

The great crested newt is one of few amphibian species adapted to the Scandinavian environment and climate. Together with other amphibian species in its distribution range, it is decreasing due to habitat destruction and habitat fragmentation after intensified agriculture and forestry. Out of the five amphibian species present within the study area, the great crested newt is probably the most threatened and vulnerable (Malmgren, 2007). The same is valid throughout most of the distribution area of the species in Sweden. The preservation of such a species is therefore of uttermost importance and a national responsibility that requires both the conservation and restoration of existing habitat and creation of new habitat.

The results of the studies presented in this thesis demonstrate that several variables at different levels and scales influence both habitat quality and habitat selection of the great crested newt. For example, there are chemical, physical and biological determinants on both local and landscape scales. The aquatic habitat is not only affected by factors in the water itself, but also by the surrounding landscape - for example by the amount and type of forest in the vicinity of the pond, bedrock and soils of the surrounding landscape. Furthermore, the aquatic habitat and the surrounding landscape, including the terrestrial habitat, are often shaped by different kinds of human land use that may affect the habitats both positively and negatively. To function as a sufficient terrestrial habitat for the great crested newt, good habitat quality *per* se is not enough if the area is too small or if the distance from potential breeding habitats is too large. Therefore, the connectivity of the landscape is also imperative. Papers I-IV describe the habitats of the great crested newt from different perspectives, on different scales and using different variables. I am thereby not diminishing the role of any other biotic (e.g. predation, competition or dispersal behaviour) or abiotic (e.g. landscape permeability or pond characteristics) factors also recognized as drivers in the colonization of ponds by amphibians in general and of the great crested newt (e.g. Cooke and Frazer, 1976; Baker and Halliday, 1999; Kupfer and Kneitz, 2000; Thiesmeier and Kupfer, 2000; Lesbarrerés et al., 2010).

The findings presented in this thesis should be taken under consideration in conservation measures for the great crested newt and especially in the management of ponds and other small wetlands in the distribution range of the species. When constructing new ponds it is essential to analyze the surrounding landscape, not only regarded as terrestrial habitat for the great crested newt but also in terms of its influence on the aquatic habitat (Davies et al., 2004; Hamer and McDonnell, 2008). For example, while ponds constructed mainly for nutrient retention should be placed where there are high influxes of nutrients and therefore a high level of nutrient uptake (Brönmark and Hansson, 1998; Brönmark and Hansson, 2002), it is often important to avoid high nutrient levels when constructing ponds for enhancing amphibian diversity in the landscape (Hamer et al., 2004; Kadoya et al., 2011). Paper II indicates this, where newts were shown to avoid ponds with high nutrient levels when selecting breeding habitat. High levels of nutrients might be harmful per se and additionally accelerate over-growth and succession of the pond. Over-growth often means a transformation of pond vegetation, from a species-rich community with a diverse flora of macrophytes to a species-poor community dominated by plants merging over the surface (Engelhardt and Ritchie, 2001; Engelhardt and Ritchie, 2002; Loreau et al., 2001; Angelibert et al., 2004). As discussed earlier and in Paper I, this process deteriorates the quality of the pond as a great crested newt habitat, and for the ecosystem it is indicative of.

Even if there are no unnaturally high levels of nutrients, all ponds will eventually overgrow (Gee et al., 1997; Boothby, 2003). This natural or anthropogenically driven succession may be stopped and turned back by recurring mechanical clearing of ponds, and by low-intensity grazing. However, as over-growth is a natural process there are many species of diverse genera that are adapted to different stages in the succession (Gee et al., 1997). To avoid disturbing amphibian populations and other organisms, and as there often is a lack of ponds in the landscape, a better alternative to restoration is often to create new ponds in the vicinity of overgrown ponds. If restoring a pond, an alternative to clearing the whole surface may be to save vegetation in parts of the pond. This will be less harmful to the flora and fauna of the pond and will speed up the colonization by plants and invertebrates.

The closest surroundings of a pond might also be subject to over-growth, due to for example removal of grazing stock. This leads to the invasion of taller herbs, bushes and eventually trees, causes shading to the pond and increased amounts of leaf-litter and nutrient additions. Shading, especially in the south sector of the pond, causes lower temperatures and reduced pond vegetation, while leaf-litter may cause increased levels of nutrients and a lack in oxygen (Gee et al., 1997; Skelly et al., 2002; Thurgate and Pechmann, 2007). **Papers I** and **II** indicate the importance of diverse vegetation and high temperature for successful breeding of great crested newts. Consequently, it may also be important to take the terrestrial vegetation within approximately 20 meters of a pond into consideration when working with conservation measures in the aquatic habitat of the species (Sztatecsny et al., 2004).

The radio-transmitter study in **Paper III** demonstrates the importance of certain structures and micro-habitats in the terrestrial habitat of the great crested newt. Structures such as dead wood and abundant leaf litter are primarily restricted to habitats that are rare in the human influenced landscapes of today, like old-growth forest and deciduous forest (Nilsson et al., 2002; Mikusiński et al 2003; Bobiek et al., 2005). However, as a conservation measure, the availability of such structures may be enhanced in areas where the quality of the terrestrial habitat would otherwise be deficient. By supplying forest floors with litter from e.g. surrounding parks and lawns or with logs and other coarse woody debris, new micro-habitats will be created.

As shown in **Paper III**, the great crested newt prefers to use the area close to the aquatic habitat as terrestrial habitat. This tendency has also been pointed out in similar studies on the species (Dolmen, 1982; Latham and Oldham, 1996; Baker and Halliday, 1999; Oldham and Humphries, 2000; Jehle, 2000; Jehle and Arntzen, 2000; Malmgren, 2002). Movements on land expose a newt individual for potential risks, like predators and desiccation, especially since the great crested newt moves rather slowly while on land. Consequently, they ought to prefer habitats close to the breeding pond if they are available. Thus, habitat reinforcement measures in the terrestrial habitat ought to be most advantageous within approximately 200 m from a breeding pond or a potential aquatic habitat. However, to allow for changes in the surrounding landscape and to render migration between ponds and populations possible, it is necessary to have a more large scale approach.

In **Paper IV**, I investigated the terrestrial habitat surrounding great crested newt aquatic habitats on two different scales. When working with conservation of great crested newts and other pond-living organisms, it is important to consider the surrounding landscape not only as a terrestrial habitat but also as a mean for transportation between ponds and habitats. How large areas a great crested newt population utilizes depends on the quality of the terrestrial habitat and if the connectivity of the surrounding landscape allows for individuals to migrate. Landscape connectivity and, specifically, pond connectivity is important for the long term persistence of populations with metapopulation dynamics, since it may buffer the stochastic events to which ponds are prone (Marsh and Trenham, 2001; Smith and Green, 2005; Griffiths et al., 2010; Semlitsch, 2010). To sustain viable populations of the great crested newt, there need to be a mosaic of aquatic habitats of different types and succession stages and abundant terrestrial habitat of high quality, with interconnecting corridors and within migration distance, in a pondscape (Swan and Oldham, 1993; Jehle, 2000; Joly et al., 2001; Langton et al., 2001; Malmgren 2002).

Paper V describes a conflict between human land use and great crested newts. A translocation project was performed due to exploitation demands, strong legislation protecting the great crested newt and lacking knowledge in estimating habitat quality. Unfortunately, the project was performed with a time limit, was underfunded and several important elements were left out or overlooked. For example, no initial survey of the population was made prior to implementation, which led to a substantial underestimation of the population size. If a survey had been performed, the population would probably have been preserved in its original habitat. The strong legislation protecting the species and its habitat demands very strong economical or societal motives before destroying a population (Artskyddsförordningen 2007:845). However, sometimes there is no option to habitat destruction and then translocation might be an alternative to make at least part of the population survive and not to decrease the total number of populations in a region. Consequently, there is urgent need to learn how to perform such projects without causing too much damage to the population in question or to the total great crested newt population. It is of utmost importance to follow, describe and publish the results from such examples, to be able to learn from cases and to avoid doing the same mistakes over and over (Dodd and Seigel, 1991). Also, when performing a translocation it is important not to only take the aquatic habitat into consideration. To be sustainable, the receiving area must contain breeding habitat, alternative aquatic habitats, terrestrial habitat and a sufficient degree of connectivity. With this in mind, translocations should only be considered when there are no alternatives to in situ preservation. When translocations are deemed necessary, for example if the original habitat has already taken damage, a dedicated long term monitoring regime should be established and sufficient funding should be assigned to the project for its entirety. The need for documentation and appropriate methods also need to be established. To conclude, translocation projects should not be taken lightly. There is also no one method that is appropriate for all such projects, as both the habitat and the life style of the great crested newt are highly complex. Therefore, there is no

standard solution to be applied. Each case must be taken into account with a unique approach.

The aquatic habitat of the great crested newt often contains a multitude of life. Ponds and small lakes and wetlands are among the most important for the diversity of aquatic organisms and the presence of a variety of ponds and wetlands adds important features in a heterogeneous landscape (Friday, 1987; Gibbs, 1993; Semlitsch and Bodie, 1998; Williams et al., 2003; Briers and Biggs, 2005; Oertli et al., 2005; Søndergaard et al., 2005). The results from Paper I demonstrate that ponds with presence of great crested newts have a higher number of aquatic plant species than ponds where the great crested newt is absent. This implies that presence of great crested newts is a good indicator for high species diversity of plants in ponds and small wetlands. The aquatic environment preferred by the great crested newt contains a large variety of structures and vegetation that constitute egg laying substrate and protection. This variation probably incorporates a large diversity among plants and animals. The same may most likely be applied to the terrestrial habitat of the species, as the great crested newt seems to prefer environments with a high heterogeneity in structures and substrates in the field and ground level (Jehle, 2000; Jehle and Arntzen, 2000; Joly et al., 2001) which is also indicated by Paper III. Even the relatively small area enclosed by a 200 m buffer zone surrounding a great crested newt breeding pond may contain valuable flora and fauna (e.g. Götmark and Thorell, 2003), which further motivates the protection of such areas. The specific demands of high quality habitat propose that the great crested newt is a valid indicator or umbrella species for several plant and animal communities and for a heterogeneous and sustainable pondscape (Simberloff, 1998; Baker and Halliday, 1999; Caro and O'Doherty, 1999; Jehle, 2000; Roberge and Angelstam, 2004). In particular, species that demand ponds and wetlands in some part of its lifecycle will probably fall under the protective shade of the great crested newt umbrella. However, it is utterly important that survey and monitoring schemes of great crested newts not only indicate presence or absence of adults, but also observations of reproductive success. It appears that the great crested newt may occur in aquatic habitats with different quality depending on purpose of use (Paper II). Especially when selecting breeding habitat, they are certainly more selective. Furthermore, as adult newts may grow fairly old and can remain in a poor-quality landscape for some time, presence of adult newts alone is not a valid sign of a functional pondscape (as indicated by the habitat of the translocated population in Paper V). To preserve and restore pond-breeding amphibian populations and to provide a suitable pondscape, there must be appropriate levels of habitat succession, good water quality, absence of predatory fish, availability of

terrestrial habitat, and connectivity to surrounding populations. A dynamic pondscape containing a multitude of used or potential aquatic habitats with a natural succession may allow for fish-based and newt-based ecosystems to coexist on a landscape level. To secure the long-term survival of great crested newts and other amphibians it is necessary to consider a scale large enough to secure population survival and to maintain metapopulations on a landscape scale.

The public opinion on the protection of the great crested newt and its environments is most often positive. It is a charming and attractive species that lead a mysterious life in hidden places, and it is very popular among children and young adults if they learn to know it. It is probably easier to attract attention to the great crested newt than to less eye-catching creatures that hide in the vegetation or mud of a pond, like mayfly nymphs, water flees or leeches. Beautiful flying dragonflies or flowering plants might be attractive, but many times difficult to catch or demonstrate and it is often complicated to distinguish different species. The assumption that the great crested newt may be a good indicator, umbrella and/or flagship species for a large biological diversity, makes it valuable as a motive and symbol for creating and restoring ponds and pondscapes.

7 The need for further research

As the great crested newt is unfamiliar to many people and leads an obscure life, its distribution and habitat selection has remained unknown for a long time. Early studies have mostly been directed towards systematics, morphology/physiology and reproductive biology of the species (Griffiths, 1996; Thiesmeier and Kupfer, 2000). However, a number of more recent studies have been made to outline and describe the habitats and landscapes of the great crested newt. As have been mentioned above, the aquatic habitat is the most well known whereas the terrestrial habitat has been less acknowledged. It is also important to raise the question of habitat preference to the landscape scale, especially in conservation issues.

Future studies are recommended to continue the research on pollutants and diseases, not only concerning the great crested newt but for the amphibian group as a whole. Negative effects of for example different nitrogen compounds or low levels of pH have often been detected and investigated separately and in laboratory environments. Their effects in natural environments, combined with a multitude of other chemical, physical and biological variables have been researched to a smaller extent. In natural ecosystems different organisms are affected to different extent. Nevertheless, a negative effect on one species may convey cascade effects that act negatively on organisms in other parts of the system. It may be difficult to trace the cause of such cascades in natural systems; however, it is of utmost importance to consider this issue when trying to outline actual effects and thresholds of for example different compounds and substances. Future research should study different physical, chemical and biological variables together, to try to find out their combined and relative importance in shaping a sufficient aquatic habitat.

As great crested newts spend most of their lives in a terrestrial environment, it is crucial to delimit not only the aquatic part of their habitat. As seen in **Paper III**, small and light radio-transmitters make it possible to follow individual newts when moving in a terrestrial environment without being destructive (Jehle, 2000; Schabetsberger et al., 2004). More similar studies need to be performed, to find out in what environments the newts move, where they stay for extended periods of time and if certain environments are avoided. It is also important to register which microhabitats are preferred. This is of particular interest when trying to construct, restore or reinforce terrestrial habitats in the conservation of the great crested newt. Terrestrial habitat use may vary between different parts of the distribution range of the species, which makes it important to research in both southern and northern habitats. The relative importance of both the microhabitat and the terrestrial habitat at a larger scale has not been investigated in detail. Possibly, efficient microhabitats may be created in otherwise inhospitable environments such as for example parks, industrial areas and other built-up areas, or in environments with short continuity and in that way compensate for any lack in natural microhabitats (Langton et al., 2001). Radio-transmitters also aid in outlining movement patterns of great crested newts, for example concerning through which environments they move, how they move to find preferred terrestrial environments and how far they move. Such observations will provide valuable information in the construction, shaping and placement of ponds and pondscapes.

Radio-transmitters are associated with relatively high costs and possible harmful injuries on newts. Instead, analyses of the surroundings of aquatic habitats may reveal proportions of different environments and thresholds adequate for the great crested newt to be present and/or reproducing successfully in a landscape. It is important to investigate terrestrial habitat constitution throughout the distribution range of the species and in different landscape types. **Paper IV** is one of few such studies performed in Scandinavia and it is important to continue this research.

In this thesis I have raised the concept of the great crested newt as a potential indicator of biological diversity in ponds and in the pondscape. To confirm such an assumption, further studies of correlations and co-occurrences with other species groups and ecosystems are necessary, as well as studies of the natural dynamics of a pondscape and of great crested newt metapopulations (Simberloff, 1998; Caro and O'Doherty, 1999; Jeffries, 2005). For understanding more about the ecology and appropriate conservation of this species and its ecosystems, I would therefore recommend that the pondscape frame is very fruitful for future researchers to bear in focus.

References

- ANDERSSON, J., GRANATH, B. AND LINDELL, M. 2008. Större vattensalamander. Inventering av större vattensalamander (Triturus cristatus) i Jämtlands län 2005-2007. Länsstyrelsen i Jämtlands län, Östersund, Sweden. (In Swedish)
- ANDRÉN, C., HENRIKSON, L., OLSSON, M. AND NILSON, G. 1988. Effects of pH and aluminum on embryonic and early larval stages of Swedish brown frogs Rana arvalis, R. temporaria and R. dalmatina. Holarctic Ecology 11:127-135.
- ANGELIBÉRT, S., MARTY, P., CEREGHINO, R. AND GIANI, N. 2004. Seasonal variations in the physical and chemical characteristics of ponds: implications for biodiversity conservation. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems 14:439-456.
- ARNTZEN, J. W. 2003. Triturus cristatus superspezies Kammmolch-artenkreis. In Grossenbacher, K. and Thiesmeier, B. (eds.), *Handbuch der Reptilien und Amphibien Europas: Schwanzlurche (Urodela) IIA, Salamandridae II: Triturus 1. Band 4/IIA*, pp. 421-514. Aula-Verlag, Wiebelsheim, Germany. (In German)
- ARNTZEN, J.W. AND WALLIS, G.P. 1991. Restricted gene flow in a moving hybrid zone of the newts Triturus cristatus and T. marmoratus in western France. Evolution 45: 805-826.
- ARONSSON, S. AND STENSON, J.A.E. 1995. Newt-fish interactions in a small forest lake. Amphibia-Reptilia 15:177-184.
- BAKER, J.M.R. AND HALLIDAY, T.R. 1999. Amphibian colonization of new ponds in an agricultural landscape. Herpetological Journal 9:55-63.
- BECKER, C.G., FONSECA, C.R., HADDAD, C.F.B. AND PRADO, P.I. 2009. Habitat split as a cause of local population declines of amphibians with aquatic larvae. Conservation Biology 12:287-294.
- BEEBEE, T.J.C. 1985. Discriminant analysis of amphibian habitat determinants in South-East England. Amphibia–Reptilia 6:35-43.
- BEEBEE, T.J.C. 1997. Changes in dewpond numbers and amphibian diversity over 20 years on chalk downland in Sussex, England. Biological Conservation 81:215-219.
- BEEBEE, T.J.C. AND GRIFFITHS, R.A. 2000. *Amphibians and Reptiles. A Natural History of the British Herpetofauna.* Harper Collins Publishers, London, UK.
- BEEBEE, T.J.C. AND GRIFFITHS R.A. 2005. The amphibian decline crisis: a watershed for conservation biology? Biological Conservation 125:271-285.

- BEJA, P. AND ALCAZAR, R. 2003. Conservation of Mediterranean temporary ponds under agricultural intensification: an evaluation using amphibians. Biological Conservation 114:317-326.
- BENTON, T.G., VICKERY, J.A. AND WILSON, J.D. 2003. Farmland biodiversity: Is habitat heterogeneity the key? Trends in Ecology and Evolution 18:182-188.
- BERNES, C. (ED.) 1994. *Biological Diversity in Sweden: A National Study. Monitor 14.* Swedish Environmental Protection Agency, Solna, Sweden.
- BIGGS, J., WILLIAMS, P., WHITFIELD, M., NICOLETT, P. AND WEATHERBY, A. 2005. 15 years of pond assessment in Britain: results and lessons learned from the work of pond conservation. Aquatic Conservation: Marine Freshwater Ecosystems 15:693-714.
- BLAUSTEIN, A.R., WAKE, D.B. AND SOUSA, W.P. 1994. Amphibian declines: judging stability, persistence, and susceptibility of populations to local and global extinctions. Conservation Biology 8:60-71.
- BLOECHL, A., KOENEMANN, S., PHILIPPI, B. AND MELBER, A. 2010. Abundance, diversity and succession of aquatic Coleoptera and Heteroptera in a cluster of artificial ponds in the North German lowlands. Limnologica 40:215-225.
- BOBIEK, A. (ed.), GUTOWSKI, J.M., ZUB, K., PAWLACZYK, P. AND LAUDENSLAYER, W.F. 2005. *The afterlife of a tree*. WWF Poland, Warszawa-Hajnówka, Poland.
- BOOTHBY, J. 1997. Pond conservation: towards a delineation of pondscape. Aquatic Conservation: Marine Freshwater Ecosystems 7:127-132.
- BOOTHBY, J. 2003. Tackling degradation of a seminatural landscape: options and evaluations. Land Degradation and Development 14:227-243.
- BOWNE, D.R. AND BOWERS, M.A. 2004. Interpatch movements in spatially structured populations: a literature review. Landscape Ecology 19:1-20.
- BRIERS, R.A. AND BIGGS, J. 2005. Spatial patterns in pond invertebrate communities: separating environmental and distance effects. Aquatic Conservation: Marine Freshwater Ecosystems 15:549-557.
- BRÖNMARK, C. AND HANSSON, L.-A. 1998. The Biology of Lakes and Ponds. Oxford University Press, Oxford, UK.
- BRÖNMARK, C. AND HANSSON, L.-A. 2002. Environmental issues in lakes and ponds: current state and perspectives. Environmental Conservation 29:290-306.
- CARO, T.M. AND O'DOHERTY, G. 1999. On the use of surrogate species in conservation biology. Conservation Biology 13:805-814.
- COLLINS, J.P. AND STORFER, A. 2003. Global amphibian declines: sorting the hypotheses. Diversity and Distributions 2:89-98.
- COOKE, A.S. 2001. Invertebrate predation on larvae of the crested newt (Triturus cristatus). Herpetological Bulletin 77: 15-19.
- COOKE, A.S. AND FRAZER, J.F.D. 1976. Characteristics of newt breeding sites. Journal of Zoology 178:223-236.
- COTTENIE, K. AND DE MEESTER, L. 2004. Metacommunity structure: synergy of biotic interactions as selective agents and dispersal as fuel. Ecology 85:114-119.

- CURADO, N., HARTEL, T. AND ARNTZEN, J.W. 2011. Amphibian pond loss as a function of landscape change a case study over three decades in an agricultural area of northern France. Biological Conservation 144:1610-1618.
- CUSHMAN, S. 2006. Effects of habitat loss and fragmentation on amphibians: a review and prospectus. Biological Conservation 128:231-240.
- D'AMEN, M. AND BOMBI, P. 2009. Global warming and biodiversity: Evidence of climatelinked amphibian declines in Italy. Biological Conservation, 142:3060-3067.
- D'AMEN, M., VIGNOLI, L. AND BOLOGNA, M.A. 2007. The effects of temperature and pH on the embryonic development of two species of Triturus (Caudata: Salamandridae). Amphibia-Reptilia 28:295-300.
- D'AMEN, M., PIETRANGELI, B. AND BOLOGNA, M.A. 2010. Human-provoked amphibian decline in central Italy and the efficacy of protected areas. Wildlife Research 37:547-557.
- DAVIES, B.R., BIGGS, J., LEE, J.T. AND THOMPSON, S. 2004. Identifying optimum locations for new ponds. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems 14:5-24.
- DENOËL, M. AND FICETOLA, G.F. 2007. Landscape-level thresholds and newt conservation. Ecological Applications 17:302-309.
- DENOËL, M. AND FICETOLA, G.F. 2008. Conservation of newt guilds in an agricultural landscape of Belgium: the importance of aquatic and terrestrial habitats. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems 18:714-728.
- DENOËL, M. AND LEHMANN, A. 2006. Multi-scale effect of landscape processes and habitat quality on newt abundance: Implications for conservation. Biological Conservation 130:495-504.
- DODD, JR., C.K. AND CADE, B.S. 1998. Movement patterns and the conservation of amphibians breeding in small, temporary wetlands. Conservation Biology 12:331-339.
- DODD, JR., C.K. AND SEIGEL, R.A. 1991. Relocation, repatriation, and translocation of amphibians and reptiles: are they conservation strategies that work? Herpetologica 47:336-350.
- DOLMEN, D. 1978. De neotene salamanderne (skrattabborrene) ved Stensele. Fauna och Flora 73:161-200. (In Norwegian)
- DOLMEN, D. 1982. Zoogeography of Triturus vulgaris (L.) and T. cristatus (Laurenti) (Amphibia) in Norway, with notes on their vulnerability. Fauna Norv. Ser. A 3:12-25.
- DOLMEN, D. AND KOKSVIK, J.I. 1983. Food and feeding habits of Triturus vulgaris (L.) and T. cristatus (Laurenti) (Amphibia) in two bog tarns in central Norway. Amphibia-Reptilia 4:17-24.
- EDGAR, P. AND BIRD, D.R. 2006. Action plan for the conservation of the crested newt Triturus cristatus species complex in Europe. Council of Europe, Strasbourg, France.
- EDGAR, P. AND GRIFFITHS, R.A. 2004. An evaluation of the effectiveness of great crested newt Triturus cristatus mitigation projects in England, 1990-2001. English Nature Research Reports, report number 575. English Nature, Peterborough, UK.
- EDGAR, P.W., GRIFFITHS, R.A. AND FOSTER, J. 2005. Evaluation of translocation as a tool for mitigating development threats to great crested newts (Triturus cristatus) in England, 1990-2001. Biological Conservation 122:45-52.

- ENGELHARDT, K.A.M. AND RITCHIE, M.E. 2001. Effects of macrophyte species richness on wetland ecosystem functioning and services. Nature 411:687-689.
- ENGELHARDT, K.A.M. AND RITCHIE, M.E. 2002. The effect of aquatic plant species richness on wetland ecosystem processes. Ecology 83:2911-2924.
- ENGLISH NATURE, 2001. *Great crested newt mitigation guidelines. Version: August 2001.* English Nature, Peterboruough, UK.
- FAHRIG, L. 2001. How much habitat is enough? Biological Conservation 100:65-74.
- FAHRIG, L. AND RYTWINSKI, T. 2009. Effects of roads on animal abundance: an empirical review and synthesis. Ecology and Society 14:21.
- FICETOLA, G.F. AND DE BERNARDI, F. 2004. Amphibians in a human-dominated landscape: the community structure is related to habitat features and isolation. Biological Conservation 119:219-230.
- FICETOLA, G.F., PADOA-SCHIOPPA, E. AND DE BERNARDI, F. 2009. Influence of landscape elements in riparian buffers on the conservation of semiaquatic amphibians. Conservation Biology 23:114-123.
- FISCHER, J. AND LINDENMAYER, D.B. 2000. An assessment of the published results of animal relocations. Biological Conservation 96:1-11.
- FOG, K., SCHMEDES, A. AND ROSENØRN DE LASSON, D. 2001. Nordens padder og krybdyr. Second edition. G E C Gad, Copenhagen, Denmark. (In Danish)
- FRIDAY, L.E. 1987. The diversity of macroinvertebrate and macrophyte communities in ponds. Freshwater Biology 18:87-104.
- GASC, J.P., CABELA, A., CRNOBRNJA-ISAILOVIC, J., DOLMEN, D., GROSSENBACHER, K., HAFFNER, P., LESCURE, J., MARTENS, H., MARTINEZ RICA, J.P., MAURIN, H., OLIVEIRA, M.E., SOFIANIDOU, T.S., VEITH, M. AND ZUIDERVWIJK, A. (EDS) 1997. *Atlas of amphibians and reptiles in Europe*. Societas Europaea Herpetologica and Museum National d'Historie Naturelle, Paris, France.
- GEE, J.H.R., SMITH, B.D., LEE, K.M. AND GRIFFITHS, S.W. 1997. The ecological basis of freshwater pond management for biodiversity. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems 7:91-104.
- GERMANO, J.M. AND BISHOP, P.J. 2009. Suitability of amphibians and reptiles for translocation. Conservation Biology 23:7-15.
- GIBBS, J.P. 1993. Importance of small wetlands for the persistence of local populations of wetland-associated animals. Wetlands 13:25-31.

GIBBS, J.P. 2000. Wetland loss and biodiversity conservation. Conservation Biology 14:314-317.

- GLEED-OWEN, C. 1996. Amphibian remains identified from the gut of a grass snake and a polecat. British Herpetological Society Bulletin 57: 21-23.
- GRIFFIS-KYLE, K.L. 2007. Sublethal effects of nitrite on eastern Tiger Salamander (Ambystoma tigrinum tigrinum) and Wood Frog (Rana sylvatica) embryos and larvae: implications for field populations. Aquatic Ecology 41:119-127.
- GRIFFITHS, R.A. 1996. Newts and Salamanders of Europe. T & A D Poyser, London, UK.
- GRIFFITHS, R.A. 1997. Temporary ponds as amphibian habitats. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems 7:119-126.

- GRIFFITHS, R.A., AND DE WIJER, P. 1994. Differential effects of pH and temperature on embryonic development in the British newts (Triturus). Journal of Zoology 234:613-622.
- GRIFFITHS, R.A., DE WIJER, P. AND MAY, R.T. 1994. Predation and competition within an assemblage of larval newts (Triturus). Ecography 17:176-181.
- GRIFFITHS, R.A. AND MYLOTTE, V.J. 1987. Microhabitat selection and feeding relations of smooth and warty newts, Triturus vulgaris and T. cristatus, at an upland pond in mid-Wales. Holarctic Ecology 10:1-7.
- GRIFFITHS, R.A., RAPER, S.J. AND BRADY, L.D. 1996. Evaluation of a standard method for surveying common frogs (Rana temporaria) and newts (Triturus cristatus, T. helveticus and T. vulgaris). Report no. 259. Joint Nature Conservation Committee, Peterborough, UK.
- GRIFFITHS, R.A., SEWELL, D. AND MCCREA, R.S. 2010. Dynamics of a declining amphibian metapopulation: survival, dispersal and the impact of climate. Biological Conservation 143:485-491.
- GRIFFITHS, R.A. AND WILLIAMS, C. 2000. Modelling population dynamics of great crested newts (Triturus cristatus): a population viability analysis. Herpetological Journal 10:157-163.
- GUSTAFSON, D.H., JOURNATH PETTERSSON, C. AND MALMGREN, J.C. 2006. Great crested newts (Triturus cristatus) as indicators of aquatic plant diversity. Herpetological Journal 16:347-352.
- GUSTAFSON, D.H., ANDERSEN, A.S.L., MIKUSIŃSKI, G. AND MALMGREN, J.C. 2009. Pond quality determinants of occurrence patterns of great crested newts (Triturus cristatus). Journal of Herpetology 43:300-310.
- GUSTAFSON, D.H., MALMGREN, J.C. AND MIKUSINSKI, G. 2011. Terrestrial habitat predicts use of aquatic habitat for pond breeding purposes a study on the great crested newt (Triturus cristatus). Annales Zoologici Fennici 48: in press.
- GUSTAFSSON, G. AND BOSTRÖM, C. 2011. Biodiversity influences ecosystem functioning in aquatic angiosperm communities. Oikos 120:1037-1046.
- GÖTMARK, F. AND THORELL, M. 2003. Size of nature reserves: densities of large trees and dead wood indicate high value of small conservation forests in southern Sweden. Biodiversity and Conservation 12:1271-1285.
- HAGSTRÖM, T. 1979. *Studies on the population ecology of two newt soecies (Urodela, Triturus) in southwestern Sweden*. PhD thesis. Department of Zoology, Göteborg University, Göteborg, Sweden.
- HAMER, A.J. AND MCDONNELL, M.J. 2008. Amphibian ecology and conservation in the urbanizing world: a review. Biological Conservation 141:2432-2449.
- HAMER, A.J., MAKINGS, J.A., LANE, S.J. AND MAHONY, M.J. 2004. Amphibian decline and fertilizers used on agricultural land in south-eastern Australia. Agriculture Ecosystems and Environment 102:299-305.
- HARTEL, T., NEMES, S., COGALNICEANU, D., ÖLLERER, K., SCHWEIGER, O., MOGA, C.-I. AND DEMETER, L. 2007. The effect of fish and aquatic habitat complexity on amphibians. Hydrobiologia 583:173-182.
- HARTEL, T., NEMES, S., ÖLLERER, K., COGALNICEANU, D., MOGA, C.I. AND ARNTZEN, J.W. 2010a. Using the connectivity metrics and niche modeling to explore the

occurrence of the northern crested newt Triturus cristatus (Amphibia, Caudata) in a traditionally managed landscape. Environmental Conservation 37:195-200.

- HARTEL, T., SCHWEIGER, O., ÖLLERER, K., COGALNICEANU, D. AND ARNTZEN, J.W. 2010b. Amphibian distribution in a traditionally managed rural landscape of Eastern Europe: probing the effect of landscape composition. Biological Conservation 143:1118-1124.
- HEDLUND, L. 1990. *Reproductive ecology of crested newts, Triturus cristatus (Laur.)*. PhD thesis. Department of Wildlife Ecology, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala, Sweden.
- HELLBERG, E., GUSTAFSON, D., MALMGREN, J.C. AND RYGNE, H. 2004. Större vattensalamander (Triturus cristatus) i Örebro län: Inventering och sammanställning av kända lokaler 1989-2003. Rapport 2003:26. Länsstyrelsen i Örebro län, Örebro, Sweden. (In Swedish)
- HONKANEN, M., SORJANEN, A.M. AND MÖNKKÖNEN, M. 2011. Deconstructing responses of dragonfly species richness to area, nutrients, water plant diversity and forestry. Oecologia 166:457-467.
- HOULAHAN, J.E. AND FINDLAY, C.S. 2004. Estimating the critical distance at which adjacent land-use degrades wetland water and sediment quality. Landscape Ecology 19:677-690.
- HOULAHAN, J.E., FINDLAY, C.S., SCHMIDT, B.R., MEYER, A.H. AND KUZMIN, S.L. 2000. Quantitative evidence for global amphibian population declines. Nature 404:752-755.
- HULL, A. 1997. The pond life project: a model for conservation and sustainability. In Boothby, J. (ed.), *British Pond Landscapes. Action for Protection and Enhancement. Proceedings of the UK Conference of the Pond Life Project*, pp. 101–109. Pond Life Project, Liverpool, UK.
- IHSE, M. 1995. Swedish agricultural landscapes: patterns and changes during the last 50 years, studied by aerial photos. Landscape and Urban Planning 31:21-37.
- IUCN 1998. Guidelines for re-introductions. Prepared by the IUCN/SSC Re-introduction Specialist Group. IUCN, Gland, Switzerland and Cambridge, UK.
- IUCN 2011. IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. Version 2011.1. <http://www.iucnredlist.org>. Downloaded on 11 August 2011.
- JEFFRIES, M.J. 1998. Pond macrophyte assemblages, biodisparity and spatial distribution of ponds in the Northumberland coastal plain, UK. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems 8:657-667.
- JEFFRIES, M.J. 2005. Small ponds and big landscapes: the challenge of invertebrate spatial and temporal dynamics for European pond conservation. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems 15:541-547.
- JEHLE, R. 2000. The terrestrial summer habitat of radiotracked Great Crested Newts (Triturus cristatus) and Marbled Newts (T. marmoratus). Herpetological Journal 10:137-142.
- JEHLE, R. AND ARNTZEN, J.W. 2000. Post-breeding migrations of newts (Triturus cristatus and T. marmoratus) with contrasting ecological requirements. Journal of Zoology 251:297-306.
- JOHANSSON, N., MERNELIUS, P. AND APELQVIST, M. 2005. Större vattensalamander (Triturus cristatus) i Jönköpings län – en sammanställning av inventeringar 2004-2005. Länsstyrelsen i Jönköpings län, Jönköping, Sweden. (In Swedish)

- JOLY, P., MIAUD, C., LEHMANN, A. AND GROLET, O. 2001. Habitat matrix effects on pond occupancy in newts. Conservation Biology 15:239-248.
- KADOYA, T., AKASAKA, M., AOKI, T. AND TAKAMURA, N. 2011. A proposal of framework to obtain an integrated biodiversity indicator for agricultural ponds incorporating the simultaneous effects of multiple pressures. Ecological Indicators 11:1396-1402.
- KARLSSON, T., BETZHOLTZ, P.E. AND MALMGREN, J.C. 2007. Estimating viability and sensitivity of the great crested newt (Triturus cristatus) at a regional scale. Web Ecology 7:63-76.
- KIESECKER, J.M., BLAUSTEIN, A.R. AND BELDEN, L.K. 2001. Complex causes of amphibian population declines. Nature 410: 681-684.
- KNUTSON, M.G., RICHARDSON, W.B., REINEKE, D.M., GRAY, B.R., PARMELEE, J.R. AND WEICK, S.E. 2004. Agricultural ponds support amphibian populations. Ecological Applications 14:669-684.
- KUPFER, A. 1998. Wanderstecken einzelner Kammolche (Triturus cristatus) in einem agrarlebensraum. Zeitschrift für Feldherpetologie 5:238-242. (In German)
- KUPFER, A. AND KNEITZ, S. 2000. Population ecology of the great crested newt (Triturus cristatus) in an agricultural landscape: dynamics, pond fidelity and dispersal. Herpetological Journal 10:165-171.
- KUZMIN, S.L. 1994. The problem of declining amphibian populations in the Commonwealth of Independent States and adjacent territories. Alytes 12:123-134.
- LAAN, R. AND VERBOOM, B. 1990. Effects of pool size and isolation on amphibian communities. Biological Conservation 54:251-262.
- LANGHELLE, A., LINDELL, M.J. AND NYSTRÖM, P. 1999. Effects of ultraviolet radiation on amphibian embryonic and larval development. Journal of Herpetology 33:449-456.
- LANGTON, T., BECKETT, C. AND FOSTER, J. 2001. *Great Crested Newt Conservation Handbook.* Froglife, Halesworth, UK.
- LATHAM, D.M. AND OLDHAM, R.S. 1996. Woodland management and the conservation of the Great Crested Newt (Triturus cristatus). Aspects of Applied Biology 44:451-459.
- LESBARRÉRES, D., FOWLER, M.S., PAGANO, A. AND LODÉ, T. 2010. Recovery of anuran community diversity following habitat replacement. Journal of Applied Ecology 47:148-156.
- LIPS, K.R., BURROWES, P.A., MENDELSON III, J.R. AND PARRA-OLEA, G. 2005. Amphibian declines in Latin America: Widespread population declines, extinctions, and impacts. Biotropica 37:163-165.
- LOMAN, J. AND ANDERSSON, G. 2007. Monitoring brown frogs Rana arvalis and Rana temporaria in 120 south Swedish ponds 1989-2005. Mixed trends in different habitats. Biological Conservation 135:46-56.
- LOREAU, M., NAEEM, S., INCHAUSTI, P., BENGTSSON, J., GRIME, J.P., HECTOR, A., HOOPER, D.U., HUSTON M.A., RAFFAELLI, D., SCHMID, B., TILMAN, D. AND WARDLE, D.A. 2001. Biodiversity and ecosystem functioning: current knowledge and future challenges. Science 294:804-808.
- LÖFVENHAFT, K., RUNBORG, S. AND SJÖGREN-GULVE, P. 2004. Biotope patterns as assessment tools in urban landscape planning. Landscape and urban planning 68:403-427.

- MACGREGOR, H.C. AND HORNER, H. 1980. Heteromorphism for chromosome 1, a requirement for normal development in crested newts (Triturus cristatus carnifex). Chromosoma 76:111-122.
- MALMGREN, J.C. 2001. *Evolutionary Ecology of Newts*. PhD thesis. Örebro University, Örebro, Sweden.
- MALMGREN, J.C. 2002. How does a newt find its way from a pond? Migration patterns after breeding and metamorphosis in great crested newts (Triturus cristatus) and smooth newts (T. vulgaris). Herpetological Journal 12:29-35.
- MALMGREN, J.C. 2007. Åtgärdsprogram för bevarande av större vattensalamander och dess livsmiljöer. Rapport 5636. Swedish Environmental Protection Agency, Stockholm, Sweden. (In Swedish)
- MALMGREN, J.C., ANDERSSON, P-Å. AND EKDAHL, S. 2007. Modeling terrestrial interactions and shelter use in great crested newts (Triturus cristatus). Amphibia-Reptilia 28:205-215.
- MALMGREN, J.C. AND ENGHAG, M. 2008. Female preference for male dorsal crests in great crested newts (Triturus cristatus). Ethology Ecology & Evolution 20: 71-80.
- MALMGREN, J.C., GUSTAFSON, D., JOURNATH PETTERSSON, C., GRANDIN, U. AND RYGNE, H. 2005. Inventering och övervakning av större vattensalamander (Triturus cristatus). Handbok för miljöövervakning. Swedish Environmental Protection Agency, Stockholm, Sweden. (In Swedish)
- MALMGREN, J.C. AND THOLLESSON, M. 1999. Sexual size and shape dimorphism in two species of newts, Triturus cristatus and T. vilgaris (Caudata: Salamandridae). Journal of Zoology 249:127-136.

MARCO, A., LIZANA, M., ALVAREZ, A. AND BLAUSTEIN, A.R. 2001. Egg-wrapping behaviour protects newt embryos from UV radiation. Animal Behaviour 61, 639-644.

- MARSH, D.M. AND TRENHAM, P.C. 2001. Metapopulation dynamics and amphibian conservation. Conservation Biology 15:40-49.
- MIAUD, C. 1993. Predation on newt eggs (Triturus alpestris and T. helveticus): identification of predators and protective role of oviposition behaviour. Journal of Zoology 231:575-582.
- MIAUD, C. 1994. Role of wrapping behaviour on egg survival in three species of Triturus (Amphibia: Urodela). Copeia 1994:535-537.
- MIAUD, C. 1995. Oviposition site selection in three species of European newts (Salamandridae) genus Triturus. Amphibia-Reptilia 16:265-272.

MIKUSIŃSKI, G., ANGELSTAM, P. AND SPORRONG, U. 2003. Distribution of deciduous stands in villages located in coniferous forest landscapes in Sweden. Ambio 32:520-526.

MILLER, J.J. 2004. Triturus (Rafinesque, 1815), Mesotriton (Bolkay, 1927) and Lissotriton (Bell, 1839). Living Underworld Species Database. Internet:

http://www.amphibiainfo.com/caudata/database/salamandridae/triturus/

- MØLLER, T. R. AND RØRDAM, C. P. 1985. Species numbers of vascular plants in relation to area, isolation and age of ponds in Denmark. Oikos 45:18-28.
- NILSSON, S.G., NIKLASSON, M., HEDIN, J., ARONSSON, G., GUTOWSKI, J.M., LINDER, P., LJUNGBERG, H., MIKUSINSKI, G. AND RANIUS, T. 2002. Densities of large living

and dead trees in old-growth temperate and boreal forests. Forest Ecology and Management 161:189-204.

- NYSTRÖM, P., HANSSON, J., MÅNSSON, J., SUNDSTEDT, M., RESLOW, C. AND BROSTRÖM, A. 2007. A documented amphibian decline over 40 years: Possible causes and implications for species recovery. Biological Conservation 138:399-411.
- OERTLI, B., JOYE, D. A., CASTELLA, E., JUGE, R., CAMBIN, D. AND LACHAVANNE, J. B. 2002. Does size matter? The relationship between pond area and biodiversity. Biological Conservation 104:59-70.
- OERTLI, B.J., BIGGS, J., CEREGHINO, R., GRILLAS, P., JOLY, P. AND LACHAVANNE, J.-B. 2005. Conservation and monitoring of pond biodiversity: introduction. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems 15:535-540.
- OLDHAM, R.S. 1994. Habitat assessment and population ecology. In Gent, T. and Bray, R. (eds.), Conservation and Management of Great Crested Newts: Proceedings of a Symposium held on 11 January 1994 at Kew Gardens, Richmond, Surrey, pp. 45–67. Report 20. English Nature, Peterborough, UK.
- OLDHAM, R.S. AND HUMPHRIES, R.N. 2000. Evaluating the success of great crested newt (Triturus cristatus) translocation. Herpetological Journal 10:183-190.
- OLDHAM, R.S., KEEBLE, J., SWAN, M.J.S. AND JEFFCOTE, M. 2000. Evaluating the suitability of habitat for the Great Crested Newt (Triturus cristatus). Herpetological Journal 10:143-155.
- OLDHAM, R.S. AND SWAN, M.J.S. 1997. Pond loss and amphibians; historical perspective. In Boothby, J. (ed.), *British Pond Landscapes. Action for Protection and Enhancement. Proceedings of the UK Conference of the Pond Life Project*, pp. 3–16. Pond Life Project, Liverpool, UK.
- ORTIZ, M.E., MARCO, A., SAIZ, N. AND LIZANA, M. 2004. Impact of nitrate on growth and survival of six European amphibians. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 47:234-239.
- PAVIGNANO, I., GIACOMA, C. AND CASTELLANO, S. 1990. A multivariate analysis of amphibian habitat determinants in north-western Italy. Amphibia-Reptilia 11:311-324.
- PEARSON, D. L. 1995. Selecting indicator taxa for the quantitative assessment of biodiversity. In Hawksworth, D.L. (ed.), *Biodiversity. Measurement and estimation*, pp. 75–79. Chapman & Hall, London, UK.
- POPESCU, V.D. AND HUNTER, M.L. 2011. Clear-cutting affects connectivity for a forest amphibian by decreasing permeability to juvenile movements. Ecological Applications 21:1283-1295.
- RANNAP, R. 2009. Impacts of habitat loss and restoration on amphibian populations. PhD thesis. Department of Zoology, Institute of Earth Sciences, Faculty of Science and Technology, University of Tartu, Estonia.
- RELYEA, R. 2005. The lethal impact of Roundup on aquatic and terrestrial amphibians. Ecological Applications 15:1118-1124.
- RIBEIRO, R., CARRETERO, M.A., SILLERO, N., ALARCOS, G., ORTIZ-SANTALIESTRA, M., LIZANA, M. AND LLORENTE, G.A. 2011. The pond network: can structural connectivity reflect on (amphibian) biodiversity patterns? Landscape Ecology 26:673-682.

- ROBERGE, J.-M. AND ANGELSTAM, P. 2004. Usefulness of the umbrella species concept as a conservation tool. Conservation Biology 18:76-85.
- ROSSET, V., LEHMANN, A. AND OERTLI, B. 2010. Warmer and richer? Predicting the impact of climate warming on species richness in small temperate waterbodies. Global Change Biology 16:2376-2387.
- SAHLÉN, G. AND EKESTUBBE, K. 2001. Identification of dragonflies (Odonata) as indicators of general species richness in boreal forest lakes. Biodiversity and Conservation 10:673-690.
- SCHABETSBERGER, R., GRILL, S., HAUSER, G. AND WUKITS, P. 2006. Zooplankton succession in neighbouring lakes with contrasting impacts of amphibian and fish predators. International Review of Hydrobiology 91:197-221.

SCHABETSBERGER, R., JEHLE, R., MALETZKY, A., PESTA, J. AND SZTATECSNY, M. 2004. Delineation of terrestrial reserves for amphibians: post-breeding migrations of Italian crested newts (Triturus c. carnifex) at high altitude. Biological Conservation 117:95-104.

- SCHEFFER, M. AND VAN GEEST, G.J. 2006. Small habitat size and isolation can promote species richness: second-order effects on biodiversity in shallow lakes and ponds. Oikos 112: 227-231.
- SEIGEL, R.A. AND DODD, JR., C.K. 2002. Translocations of amphibians: proven management method or experimental technique? Conservation Biology 16:552-554.
- SEMLITSCH, R.D. 2002. Critical elements for biologically based recovery plans of aquaticbreeding amphibians. Conservation Biology 16:619-629.
- SEMLITSCH, R.D. 2010. Principles for management of aquatic-breeding amphibians. Journal of Wildlife Management 64:615-631.

SEMLITSCH, R.D. AND BODIE, J.R. 1998. Are small, isolated wetlands expendable? Conservation Biology 12:1129-1133.

- SEMLITSCH, R.D. AND BODIE, J.R. 2003. Biological criteria for buffer zones around wetlands and riparian habitats for amphibians and reptiles. Conservation Biology 17:1219-1228.
- SIMBERLOFF, D. 1998. Flagships, umbrellas, and keystones: is single-species management passé in the landscape era? Biological Conservation 83:247-257.
- SJÖGREN, P. 1991. Extinction and isolation gradients in metapopulations: the case of the pool frog Rana lessonae. Biological Journal of the Linnean Society 42:135-147.
- SJÖGREN-GULVE, P. 1994. Distribution and extinction patterns within a northern metapopulation of the pool frog, Rana lessonae. Ecology 75:1357-1367.
- SKEI, J.K, DOLMEN, D., RØNNING, L. AND RINGSBY, T.H. 2006. Habitat use during the aquatic phase of the newts Triturus vulgaris (L.) and T. cristatus (Laurenti) in central Norway: proposition for a conservation and monitoring area. Amphibia-Reptilia 27:309-324.
- SKELLY, D.K., WERNER, E.E. AND CORTWRIGHT, S.A. 1999. Long-term distributional dynamics of a Michigan amphibian assemblage. Ecology 80:2326-2337.
- SKELLY, D.K., FREIDENBURG, L.K. AND KIESECKER, J.M. 2002. Forest canopy and the performance of larval amphibians. Ecology 83:983-992.
- SMITH, M.A. AND GREEN, D.M. 2005. Dispersal and the metapopulation paradigm in amphibian ecology and conservation: are all amphibian populations metapopulations? Ecography 28:110-128.

- SMITH, G.R., TEMPLE, K.G., DINGFELDER, H.A. AND VAALA, D.A. 2006. Effects of nitrate on the interactions of the tadpoles of two ranids (Rana clamitans and R. catesbeiana). Aquatic Ecology 40:125-130.
- SOKAL, R.R. AND ROHLF, F.J. 1995. *Biometry: The principles and practice of statistics in biological research*. W.H. Freeman and Co., New York, USA.
- STENBERG, M. AND NYSTRÖM, P. 2008. Utvärdering av projektstödsdammars betydelse för spridning av den större vattensalamandern. Publ.nr. 2009:01. Örebro County Administrative Board, Örebro, Sweden. (In Swedish)
- STEVENS, V.M. AND BAGUETTE, M. 2008. Importance of habitat quality and landscape connectivity for the persistence of endangered natterjack toads. Conservation Biology 22:1194-1204.
- STOATE, C., BÁLDI, A., BEJA, P., BOATMAN, N.D., HERZON, I., VAN DOORN, A., DE SNOO, G.R., RAKOSY, L. AND RAMWELL, C. 2009. Ecological impacts of early 21st century agricultural change in Europe - a review. Journal of Environmental Management 91:22-46.
- STUART, S.N., CHANSON, J.S., COX, N.A., YOUNG, B.E., RODRIGUES, A.S.L., FISCHMAN, D.L. AND WALLER, R.W. 2004. Status and trends of amphibian declines and extinctions worldwide. Science 306:1783-1786.
- SWAN, M. AND OLDHAM, R. 1993. Herptile sites. Volume 1: National amphibian survey. Final report. English Nature Research Report No. 38. English Nature, Peterborough, UK.
- SZTATECSNY, M., JEHLE, R., SCHMIDT, B.R. AND ARNTZEN, J.W. 2004. The abundance of premetamorphic newts (Triturus cristatus, T. marmoratus) as a function of habitat determinants: an a priori model selection approach. Herpetological Journal 14:89-97.
- SØNDERGAARD, M., JEPPESEN, E. AND JENSEN, J.P. 2005. Pond or lake: does it make any difference? Arch. Hydrobiologia 162:143-165.
- TEIXEIRA, J. AND ARNTZEN, J.W. 2002. Potential impact of climate warming on the distribution of the Golden-striped salamander, Chioglossa lusitanica, on the Iberian peninsula. Biodiversity and Conservation 11:2167-2176.
- TEMPLE, H.J. AND COX, N.A. 2009. *European red list of amphibians*. Office for official publications of the European communities, Luxembourg.
- TERHIVUO, J. 1993. Provisional atlas and status of populations for the herpetofauna of Finland 1980-92. Ann. Zool. Fennici 30:55-69.
- THIESMEIER, B. AND A. KUPFER. 2000. *Der Kamm-molch*. Laurenti-Verlag, Bochum, Germany. (In German)
- THIESMEIER, B. AND GROSSENBACHER, K. (EDS.) 2004. *Handbuch der Reptilien und Amphibien Europas*. Aula, Wiebelsheim, Germany. (In German)
- THURGATE, N.Y. AND PECHMANN, J.H.K. 2007. Canopy closure, competition, and the endangered dusky gopher frog. Journal of Wildlife Management 71:1845-1852.
- VAN BUSKIRK, J. 2011. Amphibian phenotypic variation along a gradient in canopy cover: species differences and plasticity. Oikos 120:906-914.
- VOS, C.C. AND CHARDON, J.P. 1998. Effects of habitat fragmentation and road density on the distribution pattern of the moor frog Rana arvalis. Journal of Applied Ecology 35:44-56.

- WATT, P.J. AND OLDHAM, R.S. 1995. The effect of ammonium nitrate on the feeding and development of larvae of the smooth newt, Triturus vulgaris (L.), and on the behavior of its food source, Daphnia. Freshwater Biology 33:319-324.
- WEBLEY, J. 2007. Triturus cristatus (Great crested newt): Predation by birds. Herpetological Bulletin 100:39-40.
- WERNER, E.E. AND GLENNEMEIER, K.S. 1999. Influence of forest canopy cover on the breeding pond distributions of several amphibian species. Copeia 1999:1-12.
- WILLIAMS, P., WHITFIELD, M., BIGGS, J., BRAY, S., FOX, G., NICOLET, P. AND SEAR, D. 2003. Comparative biodiversity of rivers, streams, ditches and ponds in an agricultural landscape in Southern England. Biological Conservation 115:329-341.
- WOOD, P.J., GREENWOOD, M.T. AND AGNEW, M.D. 2003. Pond biodiversity and habitat loss in the UK. Area 35:206-216.

Acknowledgements

Friends often ask me how a single species can be so interesting and fascinating that one can spend several years studying it. I often answer that for every year I study it, it becomes even more fascinating. This is probably a perfectly acceptable answer and a well known fact among scientists, but non-scientists often demands more proof. Few however, join me when I say "come with me, and I will show you…", as this in the peculiar case of the great crested newt often involves a late night outdoors among the mosquitoes, with a funny looking head lamp on your head. But the few that have joined me those just perfectly warm nights in early summer, when the nightjar is creaking and the gnats are biting extra hard - those few are often convinced that the mysteriously dancing newts in the swarming nocturnal stillness of a pond are probably one of the most fascinating scenes they have experienced in Swedish nature. Quite possibly they also understand about those several years of research...

Mitt intresse för djur och natur kom tidigt, med god hjälp av min **mor Ulla-Britt** och **far Claes-Håkan**. Först när jag blivit lite äldre har jag förstått att våra många utflykter till Kvismaren, Sörön och otaliga andra vackra naturområden runt om i Närke, Sverige och Europa kanske inte är något som alla barn får uppleva när de växer upp. Jag tror att mina föräldrar i sin tur har fått sitt intresse från sina föräldrar. Jag önskar så att jag kunde få träffa mina **mor- och farföräldrar** igen nu när jag är lite mer vuxen. Som någorlunda ersättning har jag botaniserat i morfar Torstens lådor med diabilder av rara växter och hört mammas berättelser om mormor Lilly och från sin barndom i Vaxholm och Särö. Jag kan tänka tillbaka på min egen barndom, då jag fick många vårar, somrar, höstar och vintrar tillsammans med familjen och med farmor och farfar på gården i Findla. Allt praktiskt arbete med lantbruket, cykelturer och kanotutfärder, upptäcktsexpeditioner till hemliga mossar och svårtillgängliga våtmarker, julgranshuggning, fågelmatning och grodletande listan över vardagliga äventyr kan göras lång. Farfar Lennart delade gärna med sig av sin känsla för naturen i vardagen, under höskörd, arbete i skogen, stenplockning och tillverkning av sälgpipor. Jag minns farmor Anna-Lisa hos korna, bland klarbären och under potatisskörden. En sådan barndom önskar jag åt alla - jag tror att man blir en lugn och trygg människa av det, och fylld av respekt och intresse för naturen och det levande.

Som sagt, så förstod jag nog inte riktigt vilken gåva jag fått av min familj. Det dröjde nog till gymnasiet på "Karro", när min biologilärare **Elisabeth Kocken** uppmuntrade mig att faktiskt tillbringa sommaren i en eka på Findlaviken, letandes efter vattenväxter. Redan då lärde jag mig att fascineras över vattenblinkar och -bläddror, *Potamogeton* och *Sparganium*. Jag lärde mig att värna om den mångfald som jag upptäckte där. Efter den sommaren var det nästan självklart att jag skulle läsa biologi på universitetet!

Efter många år av spännande och engagerande studier i Umeå och Göteborg hamnade jag till slut i Örebro igen. För detta vill jag tacka ytterligare en person som har varit med mig ända sedan jag gjorde mitt examensarbete i samarbete med Örebro kommun - **Mats Rosenberg**. Mats - det har varit fantastiskt lärorikt, inspirerande och framför allt roligt att få arbeta ihop med dig vid så många tillfällen. Det du har uträttat för naturen och innevånarna i Örebro är beundransvärt. Jag hoppas verkligen att jag får möjlighet samarbeta med dig många gånger igen!

Efter att ha hört en presentation av mitt avklarade examensarbete, vågade **Alf Ekblad** anställa mig som lärarassistent i växtfysiologi under biologiutbildningens första år på Örebro universitet. Detta är värt en eloge. Trots min relativa vilsenhet bland växternas olika kärl och potentialer är jag idag väldigt tacksam över att jag fick detta jobb, för efter denna tjänstgöring fick jag vara med under flera år och både undervisa på, planera för och utveckla biologiutbildningen i Örebro.

Ett varmt tack till alla kollegor som jag haft på Örebro universitet genom åren! Det var ett tag nu sedan jag hälsade på, men jag hoppas att ni inte har glömt mig helt. Åren med er har verkligen betytt mycket för mig och jag fick möjlighet att fördjupa mig inom många områden inom biologin och utvecklades snabbt som person. Alla timmar med undervisning, tillsammans med hängivna kollegor och tillsammans med 100-tals studenter, är något jag inte skulle vilja vara utan idag.

Det var på Örebro universitet jag träffade **Janne Malmgren**, som är min biträdande handledare som doktorand. Det var Janne som först övertygade mig om att det var just salamanderforskare jag borde bli. Tillsammans blev vi "stora och lilla salamandern" på Örebro universitet och vi gjorde en hel del ihop för att hjälpa den större vattensalamandern i Örebro län. Janne - du har lärt mig väldigt mycket genom att dela med dig av dina kunskaper och ditt brinnande intresse för ekologi, evolution och kanske framför allt grodor och salamandrar. Vi har slitit med undervisningen tillsammans, i ur och skur, under med- och motgångar, i flera år. Visst har jag ångrat mig några gånger att jag började doktorera och visst har det tagit ganska lång tid att komma så här långt, men jag vill framhålla att jag för det mesta haft väldigt roligt. Och kanske blev jag en riktig "salamandrolog" till slut?

Under åren som följde betade jag av några handledare: **Mats-Olof Mattsson**, **Per Angelstam** och **Per-Erik Olsson**. Mats-Olof gjorde det möjligt för mig att börja som doktorand på Örebro universitet 2001 och gjorde nog sitt bästa för att få mig att förstå vad det egentligen innebär att doktorera. Per har bjudit med mig på några spännande resor med livsberikande upplevelser och diskussioner om högt och lågt. Per-Erik gjorde det möjligt för mig att slutföra en licentiatexamen på Örebro universitet 2009. Stort tack till er alla!

Min huvudhandledare under de senaste åren har varit **Grzegorz Mikusiński**. Tack Grzegorz för att du har baxat mig ända hit, efter några år med piskor och morötter. Utan dig hade den här avhandlingen aldrig blivit färdig. Det är bra att ha någon som dig i närheten och du har faktiskt, till slut, gjort avhandlingsarbetet till något roligt för mig. Tack också för att du har hjälpt mig att upptäcka det fantastiska landet Polen och alldeles särskilt de fascinerande skogarna i Białowieża!

Jag vill här också passa på att framföra min yttersta uppskattning till **Torgny Söderman** och er andra på SLU och **Skogsmästarskolan i Skinnskatteberg** för att ni har gett mig ekonomisk och praktisk möjlighet att slutföra arbetet med min doktorsavhandling hos er.

Som doktorand är man förstås, liksom vid de flesta andra skeden i livet, beroende av hjälp från en oerhörd massa människor. Jag känner att jag så gott som alltid har fått den praktiska hjälp jag har behövt både på Örebro universitet och på Skogsmästarskolan i Skinnskatteberg. Det har gällt hjälp med såväl fältutrustning som datorer och program, böcker och artiklar, ekonomi och diverse andra praktikaliteter. Stort tack till alla er som ligger bakom detta ingen nämnd, ingen glömd!

Några av mina salamanderäventyr i fält har jag delat med **Cecilia Journath Pettersson**, **Astrid Andersen** och **Per Bülow**. Ni har haft stor del i framtagandet av resultaten i den här avhandlingen. Tack för att ni är nästan totalt outtröttliga och för er outsinliga entusiasm!

En annan hjälte för salamandrar, som förtjänar stor uppskattning även bland oss människor, är **Eva Hellberg**. Eva - du är en väldigt fin vän och jag vill tacka dig för all hjälp, för ditt sällskap i markerna och just för din vänskap. Jag lovar att jag snart kommer och hälsar på hos dig och Frasse igen och hoppas att vi tillsammans får göra många fler upptäcktsresor runt om i Sverige framöver.

Tack vare salamandrarna fick jag in en fot och till slut hela kroppen på Länsstyrelsen i Örebro. Trots sitt kanske otacksamma rykte som myndighet är faktiskt Länsstyrelsen i Örebro en arbetsplats att längta till och det gäller framför allt gamla kära "natur och kulturmiljövård". Alla underbara kollegor, med glädje, humor och brinnande engagemang i det stora och i det lilla! Tillsammans kan vi allt! I brist på forskarkollegor de senaste åren har ni fått vara min andra familj. Jag hoppas att all min fysiska och psykiska frånvaro och slit med denna avhandling kan löna sig även för er och för naturen i vårt län. Ett extra stort tack till **Per Wedholm** för att jag får använda dina snygga illustrationer i den här boken!

Mina handledare har mer än en gång muttrat över mitt engagemang i olika föreningar. Visst, föreningsarbete kan ta mycket tid, men man får också ut väldigt mycket av det. Jag vill tacka alla vänner och bekanta i Närkes ornitologiska förening, Örebro läns botaniska sällskap och Naturskyddsföreningen, samt redaktionerna för Fåglar i Närke och T-Veronikan, för att ni har hjälpt mig koppla mitt intresse för naturen till verkligheten och gett mig många tillfällen att träffa kunniga och vetgiriga människor ute i markerna.

Min fina familj: mamma Ulla-Britt, syster Susanne, bror Kristoffer, Reine, Sebastian, Alexander, Ylva. Jag vet att jag är en ganska konstig son, bror, morbror m.m., men det är skönt att kunna vara det tillsammans med er. Bergman får också vara med på ett hörn - även en katt gör sitt för att en avhandling ska bli färdig.

Stor kram till Johnny - min Prins och räddare i nöden!

Pappa! Jag önskar så att du hade kunnat vara med nu när avhandlingen äntligen är färdig. Jag hade velat fira det här tillsammans med dig. Tillsammans med dig och alla mina vänner. Jag är stolt över dig - du har alltid varit min hemliga idol och någon att se upp till. Kunskap och ärlighet, glädje och engagemang - ända in i det sista. Jag anar att du tvivlade många gånger på att jag någonsin skulle bli färdig med den här avhandlingen, men du uppmuntrade mig alltid till att gå vidare. Trots allt stöd i det praktiska doktorandarbetet, är det troligen våra fjällvandringar, Ölandsresor och andra gemensamma upplevelser i naturen som har hjälpt mig mest. Du fattas mig!

Till sist passar jag på att tacka alla er - släktingar och vänner - som jag absolut inte har glömt men som en förvirrad hjärna har utelämnat här av okänd anledning. Tack för att ni finns helt enkelt! Ni berikar min vardag och gör världen till ett härligt ställe!